# ECOLOGICAL GUILD OF MICROBES THAT DRIVE PRODUCTION OF BIOGAS FROM MULTIPLE FEEDSTOCK

by

Mukhuba Mashudu

(55737560)

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for

the degree of

# **MASTER OF SCIENCE**

in the subject

Life Sciences

at the

University of South Africa

SUPERVISOR

PROFESSOR RASHEED ADELEKE

October 2017

# DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my beloved mother Josephine Tshilidzi Nemaguvhuni, aunt Asnath Nemaguvhuni and my late father Phophi Alfred Mukhuba for being good parents throughout my educational career.

# DECLARATION

Name: Mukhuba Mashudu

Student number: 5573 7560

Degree: Master of Science in Life Sciences

Title: Ecological guild of microbes that drive production of biogas from multiple feedstock

I declare that the above dissertation/thesis is my own work and that all the sources that I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by means of complete references.

SIGNATURE

DATE

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I wish to express my gratitude to those who have contributed to the completion of this dissertation work in one way or another:

- Firstly, I would like to thank the almighty God, for his love, guidance, protection and wisdom from the beginning of this study till the end
- Professor Rasheed Adeleke, my supervisor, for his love, kindness, motivation, wise words, patience, providing me with an excellent atmosphere for doing research and support he gave me throughout this project
- Dr Ashira Roopnarain, for being a good sister and mentor, believing in me, proofreading my dissertation, technical supervision and a great inspiration. I wouldn't have achieved this work without her continuous help and guidance
- Dr Mokhele Moeletsi for his kindness and giving me the opportunity to work in the renewable energy project
- Professor John Dewar for his kind-heartedness and proactive attitude
- My family: pastor Alpheus Murudi, parents, fiancé and my only daughter Trinity and my siblings for their love and support throughout this study
- Obinna Ezeokoli for helping me out with the NGS data analyses
- Dr Busiswa Ndaba, Rosina Makofane, Vuyo Mliswa and Adekunle Raimi for proofreading my thesis

- The environmental microbiology and biotechnology research team, for their support, sharing of knowledge and for the weekly presentation that we had.
- Agricultural Research Council-IRENE laboratory for analysing my samples
- Agricultural Research Council for giving me the opportunity to study using their laboratory and for funding this study
- University of South Africa post graduate bursary, National Research Foundation (NRF) and the South Africa – Norway, Research Co-operation (SANCOOP; Grant number RCN 234203) for funding this study.

"The fear of the Lord is the beginning of knowledge, but fools despise wisdom and instruction". **Proverbs 1:7** 

#### **RESEARCH OUTPUT**

#### 1. Conference outputs

- Mukhuba M\*, Roopnarain A, Adeleke R and Moeletsi M. Agricultural Research Council (ARC), Professional and Development Programme annual Conference. The effects of microbial composition in the production of biogas from multiple feedstock.17-19<sup>th</sup> October 2015. Pretoria, South Africa.
- Mukhuba M\*, Roopnarain A, Adeleke R and Moeletsi M. The South African Society for Microbiology's 19th Biennial Congress. Comparison of commercially available DNA extraction kits for the isolation of bacterial and Archaeal DNA from various stages in the anaerobic digestion process. Coastlands Umhlanga Convention Centre, Durban, 17th to the 20th of January 2016.
- Mukhuba M\*, Roopnarain A, Adeleke R and Moeletsi M. Annual National Renewable and Sustainable Energy Post Graduate symposium (REPS 2016). Potential use of microorganisms isolated from digestate (slurry) for the promotion of plant growth. University of Fort Hare, 05-06 September 2016.
- Mukhuba M\*, Roopnarain A, Adeleke R and Moeletsi M. Agricultural Research Council (ARC), Professional and Development Programme annual Conference. Potential use of microorganisms isolated from digestate (slurry) for the promotion of plant growth, 24-25<sup>th</sup> October 2016.Pretoria, South Africa.
- Mukhuba M\*, Roopnarain A, Adeleke R and Moeletsi M. 2<sup>nd</sup> International Peri-Urban conference. The effects of microbial composition in the production of biogas from multiple feedstock, 26-29 November 2017.Cape town (pending presentation).
- 2. Publications
- Mukhuba, M., Roopnarain, A., Adeleke, R., Moeletsi, M. and Makofane, R., 2018. Comparative assessment of bio-fertiliser quality of cow dung and anaerobic digestion effluent. *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, 4(1), p.1435019 (Published).

 Roopnarain A\*, Mukhuba M, Adeleke R and Moeletsi M. Biases during DNA Extraction Affect Bacterial and Archaeal Community Profile of Anaerobic Digestion Samples (published: DOI: 10.1007/s13205-017-1009-x).

#### ABSTRACT

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is becoming a widely adopted technology for conversion of organic waste and nutrient-rich fertiliser production due to its cost-effectiveness and sustainability. In this study, a batch experiment was conducted using five different types of food waste and cow dung (CD). No significant difference was observed among the four substrates that produced the highest methane (P<0.05). Based on the batch experiment results, two substrates were selected for semi-continuous digestion and the highest methane yield (67%) was obtained from codigestion (CO). PCR-DGGE results revealed higher bacterial and archaeal diversity indices in CO as compared to mono-digestion of CD and mixed food waste. The high-throughput sequence analyses revealed that the Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) belonging to the phyla Bacteroidetes, followed by Firmicutes, Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria, were dominant in all treatments. The enhanced methane production in CO could be attributed to the neutral pH and partial shift of archaea from Methanosaeta to Methanosarcina. The digestate and fresh CD were screened for plant growth promoting bacteria (PGPB), nutrient and heavy metal content. The dung contained higher concentrations of heavy metals (P<0.05) and potential pathogens in comparison to the digestate. The use of digestate may, therefore, enhance soil fertility with minimal negative environmental effects.

**Key words:** Anaerobic digestion, cow dung, plant growth promoting bacteria, PCR-DGGE, heavy metals, co-digestion, digestate, food waste.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
RESEARCH OUTPUT	vi
ABSTRACT	viii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1Background	1
1.2 Aim of the study	
1.3 Hypotheses	
1.4 Specific objectives	
1.5 Study rationale	
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1 Introduction	5
2.2 History of AD	6
2.3 Overview of biogas in South Africa, Africa and the world	7
2.3.1 Biogas in South Africa	7
2.3.2 Biogas in Africa	
2.3.3 Biogas in the world	
2.4 The microbiology of AD	
2.4.1 Hydrolysis	
2.4.3 Acetogenesis	
2.4.4 Methanogenesis	
2.5 Microbial identification	
2.6 Techniques for identifying microbial communities	
2.7 Important operating parameters in the AD Process	
2.7.1 pH and alkalinity	
2.7.2 Temperature	
2.7.3 Carbon to Nitrogen Ratio (C/N)	
2.7.4 Degradability of feedstock	
2.7.5 Hydraulic retention time and organic loading rate	

2.7.6 Moisture content	19
2.7.7 Nutrient content	19
2.7.8 Volatile fatty acids	19
2.7.9 Ammonia	
2.7.10Mixing	
2.8 Overview of the feedstock for biogas production	
2.8.1 Livestock manure	
2.8.2 Food waste	
2.9 Co-digestion	
2.10 Anaerobic digesters	
2.11 Substrate pre-treatment	
2.12 Digestate	
CHAPTER 3: METHODS AND MATERIALS	
3.1 Ethical clearance	
3.2 Study area	
3.3 Sample collection	
3.4 Analysis of physico-chemical parameters	
3.4.1 Determination of dry matter (total solids)	
3.4.2 Determination of volatile solids	
3.4.3 Determination of moisture content	
3.5 Biochemical methane potential test	
3.6 Biogas analysis	
3.8 Continuous digestion	
3.9 Culture independent method (molecular techniques)	
3.9.1 DNA extraction	
3.9.2 DNA quantification	35
3.9.3 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	
3.9.4 DGGE	
3.9.5 Analysis of DGGE profiles	
3.9.6 PCR amplification for illumina Next Generation Sequencing (NGS)	
3.9.7 Data analysis for NGS sequencing	
3.10 Culture dependent methods	
3.10.1 Analytical methods	
3.10.2 Isolation of bacterial colonies	39
3.11 Assessment of soil fertility attributes	
3.11.1 Screening for phosphate solubilisation bacteria	

3.11.2 Nitrogen fixation	40
3.11.3 Indole acetic assay (IAA)	40
3.11.4 16S rDNA gene amplification using colony PCR	40
3.13 Statistical analyses	
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
4.1 Anaerobic digestion in batch experiment	42
4.1.1 Compositional analyses	
4.1.2 pH	44
4.1.3 Batch methane production	
4.2 Biogas production in continuous digestion (CSTR)	47
4.3 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)	50
4.4 Next generation sequencing (NGS)	
4.5 Plant growth promotion experiments	
4.5.1Physico-chemical parameters before and after AD	62
4.5.2 Heavy metal analysis	62
4.5.3 Screening for phosphate solubilisation, IAA production and nitrogen fixation	63
4.5.4 Community analysis for plant growth promoting abilities	65
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	67
5.1 Anaerobic digestion in the batch experiments	67
5.1.1 Compositional analyses	67
5.1.2 pH	67
5.1.3 Batch methane production	68
5.2 Biogas production in continuous mode	68
5.2.1 Mono and co-digestion of food waste and cow dung	68
5.3 Methane yield, pH and microbiology of the AD process	
5.3.1 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)	
5.3.2 Microbial community analysis during continuous digestion	71
5.4 Potential plant growth promoting attributes of bacterial isolates	74
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	77
6.1 Conclusions	77
6.2 Recommendations and future work	
REFERENCES	79
APPENDIX	107

# LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u> Page
Table 2.1: Number of biogas installed in Africa
Table 2.2: Biogas production using different substrates; DM (dry matter), TDN (total digestible
nutrients; NA (not available), VS (volatile solids), (total solids) TS (Rajendran et al., 2012).24
Table 3.1: Experimental design
<b>Table 3.2:</b> Nucleotide sequences of primers used for molecular identification of bacteria and archaea targeting V3-V4 region
Table 3.3: PCR cycling conditions used for the amplification of DNA from bacteria and archaea with different annealing temperature
<b>Table 4.1:</b> showing the initial composition of substrate used in batch experiment
Table 4.2: Summary of the AD digestion parameters using fruit and vegetable waste and dung
<b>Table 4.3:</b> Bacterial and Archaeal diversity indices obtained from CD (A), MFWs (B) and co-digestion (C)
<b>Table 4.4:</b> Community richness and alpha diversity from bacterial and archaeal communities.         Chao 1 estimates the richness (higher value means higher richness). The methane production         was categorised into three classes: Low (0-25%), Intermediate (26-45%) and high (46-80%).         56
Table 4.5: The physico-chemical parameters of the digester feedstock before and after anaerobic digestion
Table 4.6: Morphological characterisation of bacterial isolates
Table 4.7: OTUs in relation to the phyla and sequence they contain

# LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u> <u>Page</u>
Figure 1.1: Total energy consumption in SA 2013 (BP, 2014)
Figure 2.1: African women collecting fire wood from the forest (http://newsofthesouth.com/wp-
content/uploads/2015/04/four-women-carrying-firewood.jpg) [Accessed 14/2/2017]
Figure 2.2: Schematic diagram of AD (Kondusamy and Kalamdhad, 2014)
Figure 3.1: Study area map showing the location where samples were collected
Figure 3.2: Experimental setup of batch AD cultures in a shaker incubator operating at 30°C
Figure 3.3: Semi-continuous AD trials in 20 L continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR)
<b>Figure 4.1:</b> pH measurements before and after AD process (batch experiments). Error bars representing standard deviation (n=3). I=inoculum and MFW=mixed food waste, C=control (digestion with FW alone are specified as control)
<b>Figure 4.2:</b> Cumulative methane production using different substrates. Error bars representing standard deviation (n=3). Digestion with FW alone are specified as control
Figure 4.3: Influence of substrate type on biogas production in semi-continuous digestions
Figure 4.4: pH measured at different days for all substrates used
Figure 4.5: Cumulative methane production during AD digestion process
Figure 4.6: DGGE gel showing the dominant archaeal communities obtained from the digester. The
bands were separated on 8% polyacrylamide gel with denaturing gradient of 60-25%. A- CD, B-MFW
and C-CO. Lane 1-13, samples collected during semi-continuous AD of each treatment
Figure 4.7: DGGE gel showing the dominant bacterial communities obtained from the digester. The
bands were separated on 8% polyacrylamide gel with denaturing gradient of 60-40%. A- CD, B-MFW

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AD	Anaerobic digestion
ADL	Acid detergent lignin
ADF	Acid detergent fibre
CD	Cow dung
CH <sub>4</sub>	Methane
CO	Co-digestion
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide
CSTR	continuous stirred tank reactor
DEA	Department of environmental affairs
DGGE	Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
FISH	fluorescent in situ hybridisation
FVWs	fruit and vegetable wastes
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GW	Gigawatts
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
K	kelvin
KPa	Kilopascal
m <sup>3</sup>	Cubic metre
MFW	Mixed food waste
mg	milligram
Min	Minutes
NDF	Neutral detergent fibre
°C	Degree Celsius
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
QIIME	Quantitative insights into microbial ecology
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
SA	South Africa
SABIA	South African Biogas Association
Sec	Seconds
SSCP	single strand conformation polymorphism
TGGE	Temperature gradient gel electrophoresis

TS	Total solids
VS	Volatile solids
W/V	Weight per volume
WTE	Waste-to-energy

### 1.1 Background

South Africa (SA) relies mostly on non-renewable sources such as natural gas, oil and coal to meet its energy demand (Figure 1.1), with coal providing 72% of the energy (Mwakasonda, 2007; BP, 2014). The state-owned company Eskom generates about 95% of its electricity from coal (Eskom, 2013). The South African Department of Environmental Affairs (2013) reported that the energy sector is the main contributor of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, with more than 70% emitted in the year 2000 and 78% in 2010. SA is therefore one of the countries with the highest GHG emissions in the world (Department of Environmental Affairs, 2013). This is an indication that SA is over-reliant on non-renewable energy. The use of non-renewable energy resources is a global challenge because of the negative effect of GHG emissions on the environment (Thassitou and Arvanitoyannis, 2001; Franke-Whittle *et al.*, 2014; Roopnarain and Adeleke, 2017).



Figure 1.1: Total energy consumption in SA 2013 (BP, 2014)

Furthermore, SA is also facing the challenge of uncontrolled waste production. In 2011, it was reported that SA generated 108 million tons of waste, 59 million tons of which were municipal waste, more than 10% was categorised as organic waste and about 35% classified as non-recyclable (Department of Environmental Affairs, 2012). Poor management of such waste, especially animal manure and agricultural and municipal waste, is a major cause of environmental pollution (Pardo *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, more than 89% of waste produced in SA is landfilled (Department of Environmental Affairs, 2012). Disposal of solid waste in landfills is still a popular method of waste management and the decomposition of landfill waste leads to the release of GHGs (AGAMA 2009; Van Rooy *et al.*, 2013). Another environmental risk of landfill sites is the production of leachate that carries contaminants such as heavy metals, posing the danger of ground water contamination (Shin *et al.*, 2001; Curry and Pillay, 2012). Furthermore, owing to a growing population that requires land for residential, agricultural and industrial development landfilling is no longer an option as there is limited space.

Environmental pollution, increases in energy prices and waste management are challenges that triggered significant interest in waste-to-energy (WTE) technologies (Seadi *et al.*, 2013; Franke-Whittle *et al.*, 2014). These technologies include thermo-chemical processes (gasification, combustion and pyrolysis) and biological processes that consist of anaerobic digestion (AD) and fermentation (Gumisiriza *et al.*, 2017). Anaerobic digestion, especially treating substrates that contain a high moisture content like food waste (fruit and vegetable waste), is ideal and eco-friendly compared to thermo-chemical processes (Sitorus *et al.*, 2013; Gumisiriza *et al.*, 2017).

Biogas is the key product from AD process. The AD process takes place in an oxygen-free environment. This process employs a consortium of microorganisms such as methanogens to break down organic matter to produce biogas and nutrient-rich fertiliser called slurry or digestate (Asikong Bassey *et al.*, 2013; Roopnarain and Adeleke, 2017). The AD process occurs in four stages: hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis (Yu *et al.*, 2014) at different temperature ranges. The commonly used temperature ranges are the mesophilic (20 °C -40 °C) and the thermophilic temperature range (50 °C -65 °C) (Al Seadi et al., 2008).

Biogas is a combustible gas that consists of about 60% methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and 39% carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) with trace amounts of water vapour, hydrogen, sulphide and ammonia (Sitorus and Panjaitan, 2013). Biogas is used as a source of energy for cooking, generating electricity and heating in households (Kumar, 2012; Kigozi *et al.*, 2013).

There are a vast number of feedstocks that can be used for biogas production, including animal waste, food waste, crop residues, industrial waste and sewage sludge (Appels *et al.*, 2011). However, AD is currently not used to its full potential because of a number of shortcomings, such as controlling operational conditions, improved biodigester designs and, most important, maintaining a favourable environment for microorganisms. The microbial communities involved in each stage of the AD process play an important role in converting organic wastes (Franke-Whittle *et al.*, 2014). In spite of the increasing global acceptance of AD technology, intensive research on microbial diversity is still needed (Franke-Whittle *et al.*, 2014).

# 1.2 Aim of the study

The aim of the study is to investigate microbial drivers of biogas production when FW and CD are used as feedstock.

# **1.3 Hypotheses**

- There is increased microbial diversity when FW and CD are co-digested compared to mono-digestion of either FW or CD
- There is a link between microbial diversity, choice of substrate and biogas yield

# **1.4 Specific objectives**

- To conduct batch mesophilic AD experiments using different types of FW and CD for biogas production
- To determine the quantity of biogas production from mono and co-digestion of CD and FW using semi-continuous digestion
- To determine the diversity and abundance of microbes involved in the AD process and relate to the biogas production

• To determine the fertilizer potential of anaerobic digestate

# 1.5 Study rationale

Renewable-energy use is increasing significantly because of the escalating energy crisis, efforts to mitigate the environmental impact of conventional fuels and waste disposal challenges (Mao *et al.*, 2015), and more research is being done into alternative biomass for energy production through, for instance, AD. The conversion of biomass to biogas is dependent on the interaction of microorganisms in the digester (Akuzawa *et al.*, 2011; Franke-Whittle *et al.*, 2014). Many of the research studies that have been conducted focused on the performance of the AD digester, biogas production and the quality of the digestate (Weiland, 2010; Alfa *et al.*, 2014; Roopnarain and Adeleke, 2017). However, AD is a microbe-driven process and therefore the microbiology of the process should be regarded as the most important aspect of the AD process (Roopnarain and Adeleke, 2017).

Studies conducted by Lee *et al.* (2009), Pycke *et al.* (2011) and Franke-Whittle *et al.* (2014) reported that although biogas technology is now receiving more attention, information about the microbial diversity of the actual process is insufficient. Weiland (2010) reports that little is known about the interaction of microorganisms that govern the overall process in the digester, with only an insignificant percentage of archaea and bacteria isolated. Therefore, in order to optimise conditions in the biogas digester, knowledge of the ecology and functions of the microbial communities involved in each step of the AD process is required for better control of the biological processes.

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Energy is one of the basic needs of today's society. The demand for energy is increasing every day because of rapid global economic and population growth. In SA, inadequate energy supply remains a challenge and the country has experienced frequent load shedding. Energy generation is mainly from non-renewable resources (Roopnarain and Adeleke, 2017). A non-renewable resource is defined as a resource that cannot be replaced once consumed, for example natural gas, coal and oil, while renewable energy is naturally replenished; examples include biomass, solar energy, water and wind (De Vries *et al.*, 2007).

The majority of people in developing countries, including SA, do not have easy access to fossilderived energy because of poverty. They depend on traditional biomass such as firewood and the combustion of dried manure for cooking and lighting, especially in rural areas (Gashaw, 2016). A study conducted by the International Energy Agency (2009) estimated that more than two billion people worldwide use traditional biomass as the most accessible form of energy for cooking, while more than one billion people do not have access to electricity. Biomass can be used directly or indirectly as a source of energy (Muvhiiwa *et al.*, 2016). Direct burning of traditional biomass like firewood contributes to GHG emissions and produces harmful fumes that can result in health-related problems (Adelekan and Adelekan, 2004) such as mild respiratory illness and lung cancer (Ezzati, 2005).

Energy poverty mostly affects women and young girls, who often have to for walk long distances to collect firewood (Clancy *et al.*, 2002). Overcoming energy poverty is linked to achieving one of the Millennium Development Goals, namely, making sustainable energy accessible (World Future Council, 2010). Sustainable and cost-effective ways of producing renewable energy from biomass have therefore gained interest (Ahmad *et al.*, 2016). Biomass as a renewable energy source consists of all forms of organic material derived from plants, including land-based vegetation and trees, different waste materials such as municipal solid waste (MSW), sewage and animal manure, forestry and agricultural residues, and industrial

waste (Sriram and Shahidehpour, 2005; Rao *et al.*, 2010). Such biomass generally consists of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen and small amounts of sulphur (Rao *et al.*, 2010). When compared to other renewable energy resources, biomass is cheap (Schröder *et al.*, 2008). Biomass can be used indirectly by converting it into various bioenergy forms such as bioethanol, biodiesel and biogas (Saxena *et al.*, 2009). These forms of bioenergy have received much attention throughout the world. The production of biogas from biomass using the AD process is more advantageous to the rural population in Africa than other forms of bioenergy production (Weiland, 2010; Okudoh, 2014). This is due to an abundance of substrates available for the AD process and suitable climatic conditions for biogas digester operation.

#### 2.2 History of AD

Anaerobic digestion of organic waste is one of the oldest technologies (Chen *et al.*, 2016). This technology has been used since the 10th century B.C in Assyria, where it was used for heating up bath water (He, 2010; Bond and Templeton, 2011). Jan Baptista Van Helmont first experimented on the release of CH<sub>4</sub> from decaying organic matter in 1630 (Khoiyangbam *et al.*, 2011). The year 1808, the production of CH<sub>4</sub> using cattle manure was demonstrated by Sir Humphry Davy in AD process (Lusk, 1997). Anaerobic digesters were built in Bombay (India) and England in 1859 (Bond and Templeton, 2011).

In 1921, Guorui Luo built an 8 m<sup>3</sup> hydraulic biogas tank fed with household waste and used the energy for cooking and lighting. In 1929, he founded a company, named Zhonghua Guorui Gas Lamp, in Shantou and in 1931 the company extended its operations to Shanghai to popularise biogas technology (He, 2010). Later, in the 1950s, the use of AD slowed down because fossil fuels became increasingly available at relatively low prices. Anaerobic digestion as an energy source again attracted attention as an alternative to fossil fuels in early 1970s owing to the rising prices of non-renewable resources (Ni and Nyns, 1996). In Africa, the AD technology gained a foothold in the early 1950s in countries such as Kenya (Amigun *et al.*, 2012). In SA, Mark Fry built the first digester in 1957, producing biogas from pig manure (Amigun and Von Blottnitz, 2010).

### 2.3 Overview of biogas in South Africa, Africa and the world

### 2.3.1 Biogas in South Africa

South Africa is a developing country with many industries. It is situated on the southern part of the African continent (Mwakasonda, 2007) and has a population of about 54 million in 2015 (Statistics S.A, 2015). It is estimated that up to 300 000 homes in SA own more than one head of cattle without electricity (Brown, 2006). A study conducted by Brown (2006) estimated that more than 40 % of schools in SA have no electricity.

No fewer than 200 anaerobic digesters have been installed in SA (Tiepelt, 2013). Reasons for the slow spread of biogas technology include a lack of information about the technology, lack of a trained labour force, high capital expenditure on setting up commercial plants, and generally inadequate and unreliable government support policies (Agama Energy Pty, 2008). However, biogas technology in SA is gaining popularity because of environmental challenges, load shedding and escalating non-renewable energy costs.

Several companies have been playing a role in the installation of biogas digesters in SA and these include AGAMA Energy, Finishes of Nature, Nova biogas, TPA Biogas and Africa Green Energy. Furthermore, the National Energy Regulator of SA has registered about 38 biogas plants since 2011. These plants are located mainly in rural areas of the Gauteng, Free State, KwaZulu-Natal, Limpopo and Western Cape provinces of SA (NERSA, 2013). In addition, through establishment of the plants about 1700 jobs have been created. The largest biogas plant that has been built thus far in SA is the Bronkhorstspruit plant that has been developed by Bio2Watt (waste-to-energy company) which generates about 4.4 MW of electricity (Bio2Watt, 2014).

Another interesting biogas plant is the 8 m<sup>3</sup> community scale bio-digester built in Giyani (Mpfuneko CS's rural domestic biogas) in the Limpopo province. This was established in 2007 by Jotte van Ierland in collaboration with some members of the Gawula village. The plant uses sewage and CD as the major substrate for AD (Roopnarain and Adeleke, 2017). The South African Biogas Association (SABIA) stated that biogas potential in SA has a market potential

of 10 billion and can generate about 2 gigawatt (GW) of electricity as well as thousands of jobs (Da Silva, 2013).

# 2.3.2 Biogas in Africa

The second biggest continent after Asia is Africa, on which more than 10 % of the world's population lives (International Energy Agency, 2014). In Africa, access to energy resources is still a huge challenge (Mshandete and Parawira, 2009). Most of the sub-Saharan African countries rely mainly on biomass combustion to generate energy (International Energy Agency, 2014). Overpopulation has led to overexploitation of traditionally available biomass and to an increased need for arable land for food production (Mulinda *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, collecting traditional biomass such as firewood in forests is risky and always requires hard labour (Figure 2.1), so energy generation by means of AD of waste biomass ought to be a viable alternative.



**Figure 2.1:** African women collecting fire wood from the forest (<u>http://newsofthesouth.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/four-women-carrying-firewood.jpg)</u> [Accessed 14/2/2017] Africa has the potential for installing biogas digesters, but the adoption rate of the technology is still low (Amigun and Von Blottnitz, 2002). Biogas digesters have to date been installed in several sub-Saharan countries, such as Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda and Cameroon, as shown in Table 2.1 (Pandey *et al.*, 2007; Amigun and Von Blottnitz, 2007). However, very few of these digesters are working properly because of poor maintenance, inexperienced labour and limited knowledge of biogas technology (Parawira, 2009).

Country	programma took	No of bioges	No of bioges	oumulativa number
Country	programme took	NO. OI DIOgas	No. Of blogas	cumulative multiber
	off in	plant installed in	installed in 2009	of biogas plants
		2008		installed up to 2009
Rwanda	2007	120	213	434
<b>F</b> .1.1.1.1	2000		20	100
Ethiopia	2008	98	30	128
Kenva	2008	_	3	3
5				
Tanzania	2008	3	103	106
Uganda	2008	-	40	40
Burkina Faso	2009	-	1	1
Cameroon	2009	_	23	23
Cameroon	2007	-	20	23

 Table 2.1: Number of biogas digesters installed in Africa

#### 2.3.3 Biogas in the world

A large number of operational biogas plants are found in Europe (Al Seadi *et al.*, 2008). Countries such as Germany, Austria, Denmark and Sweden have the largest number of modern biogas plants (Al Seadi *et al.*, 2008). Four GW plant of total biogas power has been installed in Germany (Wagner, 2015), which contributes about 3% of the total electricity required in the country (Fachverban, 2011).

In other parts of the world such as China and India, AD technology is mostly used to generate energy on a smaller scale (Curry and Pillay, 2012). Approximately four million household biodigesters have been installed in India and this created about 85 000 jobs (IRENA, 2015). In China, about 100 000 large-scale bio-digesters and 43 million rural household bio-digesters were operational in 2014 (IRENA, 2015). Biogas digesters have also been installed in the United States and Canada, Argentina, Peru, Brazil, Chile and Mexico (Comparetti *et al.*, 2013).

#### 2.4 The microbiology of AD

Microbial communities consisting of bacteria and methanogenic archaea play vital role in biogas production (Town *et al.*, 2014). Their metabolic activities and diversity are influenced by the composition of the feedstock, environmental factors and the operating mode of the digester (Yu *et al.*, 2014). The entire AD process can be divided into four stages based on the microbial composition and activities. Each step in AD is accomplished by the guild of microorganisms. Ecological guild refers to the group of species that exploit the same resources, or who exploit different resources in related ways (Simberloff and Dayan, 1991). The microbes are strongly linked to drive four stages of AD including hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis as shown in Figure 2.2 (Ritari *et al.*, 2012; Yu *et al.*, 2014).

# 2.4.1 Hydrolysis

This is the initial stage of the AD process. In this stage, fermentative bacteria convert the macromolecules such as proteins, carbohydrates and fats into soluble molecules such as sugars, amino acids and fatty acids (Ralph and Dong, 2010). The breakdown of these molecules is achieved with the aid of different extracellular enzymes secreted by the microorganisms (Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014). Examples of extracellular enzymes used for macromolecule breakdown

include proteinases, cellulases, hemicellulases, amylases, lipases and pectinases (Weiland, 2010; Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014). Bacteria that are active in hydrolysis include the genera *Bacteriodes, Clostridium, Peptostreptococcus, Acetivibrio, Streptococcus* and *Enterobacterium* (Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014).

The hydraulic retention time, which is the average time that the substrate is retained in the digester, is determined by the type or nature of the substrate. Hydrolysis is generally the rate limiting stage of AD, that is, the time required for the breakdown of the substrate (Kondusamy and Kalamdhad, 2014). This depends on the nature of the feedstock. The degradation process of feedstock rich in cellulose, protein and fats requires more time for the hydrolysis step than feedstock rich in carbohydrates (Weiland, 2010; Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014). However, if hydrolysis occurs too rapidly, acid accumulates and the pH of the process decreases, which inhibits methanogens (Leung and Wang, 2016).

#### 2.4.2 Acidogenesis

Acidogenesis is the second stage of the AD process and microorganisms are most active during this stage. During acidogenesis, bacteria convert the products formed by hydrolysis to form volatile fatty acids (propionic acid, acetic acid and butyric acid) and some gases (CO<sub>2</sub>, hydrogen and ammonia) (Kondusamy and Kalamdhad, 2014). Facultative and obligate anaerobic bacteria are present during this stage (Kothari *et al.*, 2014). Acid-phase bacteria belonging to the facultative anaerobes utilize the oxygen that may be introduced into the digester during feeding.

Facultative anaerobes are microorganisms that can survive in the presence or absence of oxygen. This action is very important in creating favourable conditions for the obligate anaerobes such as *Pseudomonas, Bacillus, Clostridium, Micrococcus and Flavobacterium* (Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014). These microorganisms are able to withstand low pH, high temperatures and a high organic loading rate (Ahring *et al.*, 2001).

#### 2.4.3 Acetogenesis

In the third stage, acetogenic bacteria - also known as acid-forming bacteria such as *Syntrophomonas* and *Syntrophobacter* convert long chain fatty acids, volatile fatty acids and alcohols into simple organic acids, CO<sub>2</sub> and hydrogen (Ingrid *et al.*, 2014). The acetogenic bacteria grow faster than the methanogens and the interaction of the two groups of bacteria is important for the performance of the anaerobic digester (Amani *et al.*, 2010). *Methanobacterium suboxydans* plays a role in the decomposition of pentanoic acid to propionic acid and *Methanobacterium propionicum* convert propionic acid to acetic acid (Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014). At this stage, about 25% of the acetate and 11% of the hydrogen are produced (Schink, 1997).

#### 2.4.4 Methanogenesis

The last stage of AD is methanogenesis. In this stage, acetate and hydrogen are converted to  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  by methanogens (Gashaw and Teshita, 2014). The methanogens are the dominant species and are strict anaerobes. The end product can be formed in two ways, either by means of cleavage of acetic acid molecules to generate  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  (equation 1) or by the reduction of  $CO_2$  with hydrogen to form  $CH_4$  and water (equation 2) (Ostrem and Themelis, 2004).

It has been observed that up to 70% of CH<sub>4</sub> is produced from acetate by acetotrophic methanogenesis (equation 1) and 30% is generated from hydrogen or CO<sub>2</sub> through hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (equation 2) (Čater *et al.*, 2013; Jain *et al.*, 2015). Acetotrophic methanogenes are obligate anaerobes, some are *Methanosaeta* species and *Methanosarcina* species (Čater *et al.*, 2013). The microorganisms that are most responsible for the production of CH<sub>4</sub> via the hydrogenotrophic pathway belong to the orders *Methanobacteriales*, *Methanococcales*, *Methanomicrobiales*, *Methanopyrales* and *Methanocellales* (Demirel and Scherer, 2008; Kröber *et al.*, 2009, Čater *et al.*, 2013).

$$4CH_3COOH \longrightarrow 4CH_4 + 4CO_2 \tag{1}$$

$$CO_2 + 4H_2 \longrightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O$$
 (2)



Figure 2.2: Schematic diagram of AD (Kondusamy and Kalamdhad, 2014)

# 2.5 Microbial identification

Identifying the species in a sample is crucial in microbiology research. Sequencing is a technique used for the identification of various microorganisms in samples collected from the digester (Čater *et al.*, 2013). Sequencing technology is used worldwide (Caporaso *et al.*, 2012) and is particularly useful in identifying microorganisms that are difficult to culture. First-generation sequencing known as the Sanger technique and next generation sequencing (NGS) techniques have been developed for the identification of microbes (Wirth *et al.*, 2012). The species identification process starts with extracting DNA, purifying the extracted DNA, quantification and sequencing (Caporaso *et al.*, 2010). For data analyses, bioinformatics software, such as Mothur and quantitative insights into microbial ecology (QIIME), is used (Caporaso *et al.*, 2010). Sequences are further grouped into Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) in order to classify groups of related species (Caporaso *et al.*, 2010). The alpha and beta diversity can be computed from the generated OTUs using such software. It is also

important to mention that nucleotide sequences are submitted to the NCBI (BLAST) for the purpose of identifying microorganisms.

#### 2.6 Techniques for identifying microbial communities

Methodological approaches are required for the detailed analysis of the microbial community involved in the AD process. Culture-dependent and culture-independent techniques have been widely used to identify microbial populations involved in the AD process (Manyi-Loh *et al.*, 2013). Culture-dependent techniques involve the characterisation and isolation of microorganisms using growth media such as Nutrient agar. Its limitation is that less than 1% of microbes can be cultured (Manyi-Loh *et al.*, 2013). These techniques are laborious and time-consuming.

Molecular techniques, particularly those based on the 16S rRNA, have been studied as an alternative (Rastogi and Sani, 2011; Joyce, 2016). Techniques such as cloning, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE), fluorescence *in situ* hybridisation (FISH), single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) and temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE) have been used to determine the community structure of bacteria and archaea (Ye et *al.*, 2007; Čater *et al.*, 2013). Most of the molecular techniques require that DNA be extracted by means of DNA extraction kits or any non-kit-based extraction methods, followed by PCR (polymerase chain reaction) (Čater *et al.*, 2013). Molecular techniques to study microbial communities, such as PCR-DGGE, are fast fingerprinting techniques that can differentiate between closely related species (Ezeokoli *et al.*, 2016).

DGGE is a common method used to define the phylogenetic relationship between microbial communities. It is based on the mobility of denatured DNA fragments of the same size but with a different nucleic acid sequence that generates a banding pattern that represents the microbial diversity in the sample (LaPara *et al.*, 2000). It is also used to study the changes in community structure (Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014). Separation of the bands in DGGE is based on the electrophoresis of the PCR amplified DNA gene fragments in a polyacrylamide gel with a low to high denaturant (urea and formamide) gradient (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993). Temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE) works in the same way as DGGE, but the difference is that in TGGE

the gradient is obtained from the temperature instead of the denaturant. The study conducted by Carballa *et al.* (2011) used these two molecular techniques for the identification of mesophilic and thermophilic microbial communities in the AD process.

### 2.7 Important operating parameters in the AD Process

Anaerobic digestion is a complex process that involves different types of microorganisms with various environmental requirements (Leung and Wang, 2016). According to Khalid *et al.* (2011), microorganisms do not perform the same function under different conditions and in different environments. It is therefore important to monitor the operating conditions of AD. The biogas yield and the growth of anaerobic microorganisms in the digester are influenced by many abiotic and biotic factors. These factors include pH, C/N ratio, microbial composition, nutrient content, temperature, hydraulic retention time, moisture content, design of the digester, concentration of feedstock and many more (Behera *et al.*, 2010; Jeong *et al.*, 2010; Khalid *et al.*, 2011; Comparetti *et al.*, 2013). These parameters are explained below.

# 2.7.1 pH and alkalinity

The acid concentration in aqueous systems is expressed by the pH value. pH may indicate the activity of anaerobic bacteria, especially the methanogens, because they are sensitive to low pH values in the digester: their growth can be inhibited by acidic conditions with a pH value less than pH 6.5 (Chen *et al.*, 2010). The amount of alkalinity in the digester represents the buffering capacity (Manyi-Loh *et al.*, 2013). The pH in a biogas digester is directly dependent on the retention time (Chen *et al.*, 2010). The AD process normally occurs at neutral pH and is dependent on the organic loading rate and the buffering capacity of the substrates (Manyi-Loh *et al.*, 2013).

Livestock manure such as CD has a high buffering capacity (Molinuevo-Salces *et al.*, 2010). Each group of microorganisms in AD survives in a different pH range. The optimal pH for methanogens is between 6.5 and 8.2 (Lee *et al.*, 2009). The study conducted by Kim *et al.* (2003) shows that hydrolysis and acidogenesis occur optimally between pH 5.5 and 6.5. However, the best pH for AD has been suggested to be between 6.8 and 7.2 (Ward *et al.*, 2008).

#### 2.7.2 Temperature

Anaerobic digestion has occurs in three different temperature ranges, namely the psychrophilic, mesophilic and thermophilic ranges (Al Seadi *et al.*, 2008). The most commonly used temperature ranges that provide optimum digestion conditions for the production of CH<sub>4</sub> are the mesophilic and thermophilic ranges. The mesophilic range is between 20 °C and 40 °C and the thermophilic temperature range is between 50 °C and 65 °C (Al Seadi *et al.*, 2008). It has been observed that operating the digester at thermophilic temperatures reduces the retention time (Ostrem and Themelis, 2004). However, the diversity of microorganisms at thermophilic temperatures is low as microbes are very sensitive to fluctuations of temperatures (Weiland, 2010). Acidification can also occur during thermophilic AD, which inhibits biogas production. Other disadvantages include low-quality effluent, larger energy requirements and poor methanogenesis (Mao *et al.*, 2015).

A study conducted by Pycke *et al.* (2011) reports that more diverse bacterial and archaeal species were found in a digester operating at mesophilic temperatures. The operation of digesters at mesophilic temperatures is more stable and does not require a lot of energy (Ward *et al.*, 2008; Khalid *et al.*, 2011). The disadvantages of mesophilic AD are poor degradability and nutrient imbalance. Methanogenic bacteria have been isolated from an AD digester operating at mesophilic temperature in the range 30-45°C range.

Examples of microorganisms associated with the mesophilic temperature range include the genera *Methanobacterium Methanobrevibacter*, *Methanosphaera*, *Methanolobus* and *Methanococcus*. Others include *Methanosarcina*, *Methanocorpusculum*, *Methanoculleus*, *Methanoplanus*, *Methanospirillum*, *Methanococcoides*, *Methanolobus* and *Methanohalophilus*. However, species such as *Methanohalophilus*, *Methanohalobium* and *Methanosarcina* have been identified from an AD digester operating at the thermophilic temperature range (Gerardi, 2003).

It has been suggested that temperature changes should be less than 0.6 °C to maintain process stability. In addition, it should not exceed 1 °C in a day because that can lead to process failure

(Appels *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, recent studies reveal that the rate of solubilisation was lower in thermophilic digestion that in mesophilic digestion (Komemoto *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, the optimal conditions for AD would be operating at mesophilic temperature consisting of two-phase digestion process (Mao *et al.*, 2015). Another study conducted by Lattieff (2016), suggested the use of AD under mesophilic conditions was the best when fruit wastes were used.

#### 2.7.3 Carbon to Nitrogen Ratio (C/N)

The relationship between the amount of carbon and nitrogen present in organic material is represented by the C/N ratio (Adelekan and Bamgboye, 2009). The C/N ratio is used as an indicator of nutrient deficiency in the AD process (Hartmann, 2002; Kondusamy and Kalamdhad, 2014). For the AD process to function optimally, it is important to maintain the composition of the feedstock within a required C/N range (Gashaw, 2016). The perfect C/N ratio for AD is between 20:1 and 30:1 (Adelekan and Bamgboye, 2009). The study conducted by Kondusamy and Kalamdhad (2014) states that bacteria in AD utilise carbon 25 to 35 times more than nitrogen. Methanogenic bacteria and archaea use nitrogen to meet their protein requirements (Kayhanian and Rich, 1995; Khalid *et al.*, 2011) and carbon as a source of energy.

Unbalanced nutrient composition of substrates results in low biogas production. Furthermore, microbial populations increase slowly and the retention time is longer if the percentage of nitrogen is low (Leung and Wang, 2016). Nitrogen levels exceeding the limit can also be problematic as they can cause ammonia inhibition (Kondusamy and Kalamdhad, 2014). To overcome this problem, substrate with low carbon can be co-digested with substrates with high nitrogen to balance the C/N ratio (Gashaw, 2016). An increase in C/N ratio represent a rapid intake of nitrogen by methanogenic archaea and results in low biogas production (Adelekan and Bamgboye, 2009; Kumar, 2012). The optimum biogas production with fruits and vegetable waste occurs at a C/N ratio of between 20 and 25 according to Khalid *et al.* (2011).

The highest CH<sub>4</sub> production, for instance, was achieved with the co-digestion of wheat straw and animal and chicken manure at a C/N ratio of 27.2 (Wang *et al.*, 2012). A similar study conducted by Karthikeyan and Visvanathan (2012) reports a successful AD process with a C/N ratio of 27. However, recent research reports the success of AD at low C/N ratios when composting green waste and FW (Kumar *et al.*, 2010). Zhang *et al.* (2013) co-digested FW with

cow dung and found that the optimum C/N range was 15.8. Therefore, the C/N ratio depends on the feedstock (Zhang *et al.*, 2014).

# 2.7.4 Degradability of feedstock

The organic dry matter is used to characterise the organic waste and to estimate the biogas yield that can be produced (Leung and Wang, 2016). The reduction of VS in the AD process shows substrate degradability (Leung and Wang, 2016). Feedstock that has less than 60% of VS produces less biogas, while more biogas is produced when the VS is above 70% (Vögeli *et al.*, 2014). The VS contains fats, protein and carbohydrates. Studies conducted by Gunaseelan (2004) and Deublein and Steinhauser (2011) report that market wastes have DM and VS between 8% and 20% and 75% and 90% respectively.

# 2.7.5 Hydraulic retention time and organic loading rate

Hydraulic retention time (HRT) is the average time the substrate remains inside the digester (Al Seadi *et al.*, 2008; Kothari *et al.*, 2014). The loading rate is the amount of raw material per unit volume of digester capacity fed into the digester per day and it can be expressed in g COD/L, g TS/L and g VS/L (Manyi-Loh *et al.*, 2013). The organic loading rate plays a vital role in AD because it determines the gas that can be produced in the biologister (Kothari *et al.*, 2014). The chemical oxygen demand (COD) and the biological oxygen demand (BOD) are used to measure the rate or level of decomposition of organic material during the AD process (Ray<sup>1</sup> *et al.*, 2013). The retention time varies according to substrate types, environmental conditions and temperature (Ostrem and Themelis, 2004).

The retention time in the mesophilic temperature range varies from 10 to 40 days (Kothari *et al.*, 2014). Overloading the reactor leads to low biogas production (Ray<sup>1</sup> *et al.*, 2013) because of the accumulation of inhibitory substances, such as fatty acids, in the reactor (FAO, 1996). In countries with colder climates, the HRT may be up to 100 days, whereas the values lie between 30 and 50 days in warmer climates. There is a linear relationship between retention time and the digester temperature. Higher temperature ranges result in lower retention times (FAO, 1996).

#### 2.7.6 Moisture content

Moisture content play a very important role in metabolic processes during AD (Gashaw, 2016). Excess moisture in the substrate leads to a decrease in biogas production because of low total solids (TS). On the other hand, substrates with insufficient moisture leads to an accumulation of acids that inhibit the AD microbes and therefore reduces biogas production (Kumar, 2012). The highest CH<sub>4</sub> production has been reported to take place with a 60-80% moisture content (Bouallagui *et al.*, 2003; Gashaw, 2016).

#### 2.7.7 Nutrient content

Microbes require nutrients for their growth and functioning. Anaerobic microbes require macronutrients such as carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus and micronutrients such as iron, nickel and cobalt are required (Al Seadi *et al.*, 2008; Gashaw and Teshita, 2014). If energy crops are used for biogas production, trace elements such as nickel, iron, molybdenum, selenium, tungsten and iron can be added to enhance the growth of the microorganisms (Abdoun and Weiland 2009). All methanogenic bacteria require nickel for the synthesis of the cell components responsible for CH<sub>4</sub> production (Weiland, 2010).

# 2.7.8 Volatile fatty acids

Volatile fatty acids (VFA) are intermediate compounds that are produced during AD of organic waste. Example of VFAs are acetate, propionate, butyrate and lactate (Al Seadi, 2001; Leung and Wang, 2016). Methanogenic bacteria utilise these VFAs and convert them to biogas. The accumulation of VFAs in high concentrations as a result of overloading can prevent the growth of methanogens, which can lead to process failure (Gerardi, 2003; Palacio-Barco *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2015; Leung and Wang, 2016). The accumulation of VFAs lowers the pH in the AD system. Previous research has shown that propionic to acetic acid concentrations exceeding 0.8 g/L are disadvantageous to the AD system. Therefore, the propionic acid to acetic ratio is one of the parameters that can be used to determine process stability (Buyukkamaci and Filibeli, 2004).

#### 2.7.9 Ammonia

In AD, the end-product ammonia is formed during the degradation of substrates rich in protein and nitrogen. Inorganic nitrogen exists in two forms, namelys ammonium ( $NH_4^+$ ) and free ammonia ( $NH_3$ ) (Rajagopal *et al.*, 2013; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Ammonia is used as a source of nutrients for microbes, but if its concentration exceed the threshold required by the microbes it causes problems (Kim and Oh, 2011). A low ammonia concentration is the result of substrates with a nitrogen deficiency (Rajagopal *et al.*, 2013). Rajagopal *et al.* (2013), confirms that ammonia is inhibitory at high concentrations (Rajagopal *et al.*, 2013). However, a study conducted by Wang *et al.* (2012) shows that ammonia could increase the buffering capacity of the process because it neutralises the VFAs formed in the process.

Researchers reported that the acetoclastic methanogens that produce CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> from acetate are more sensitive to ammonia inhibition than hydrogenotrophic bacteria (Chen *et al.*, 2008; Walker *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, whenever there is ammonia inhibition, the CH<sub>4</sub> production stops. Microbes such as *Methanosaeta concilii* and *Methanosarcina barkeri* have been identified as being more sensitive to high ammonia production (Sprott and Patel, 1986). Whenever the temperature rises and the pH increases, the concentration of free ammonia increases as well (Rajagopal *et al.*, 2013).

# 2.7.10 Mixing

Mixing in the digester reduces the particle size, increases the contact between the microorganisms and the substrate which helps microbes to obtain nutrients (Monnet, 2003). In addition, mixing in an anaerobic digester keeps the solids in suspension. The mode of mixing in the digester and the mixing intensity have a direct effect on CH<sub>4</sub> production (Lindmark *et al.*, 2014). Thoroughly mixing throughout the AD process can reduce the formation of layers inside the digester. However, gentle homogenisation is advised to avoid disruption of microbial activities as microorganisms are sensitive to mixing intensity (Monnet, 2003; Deublein and Steinhauser, 2008).

#### 2.8 Overview of the feedstock for biogas production

Millions of tons of different types of organic wastes are generated each year. Such wastes include animal manure, wastewater sludge, FW, agricultural residues and municipal solid wastes (Al Seadi *et al.*, 2008; Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014). Waste composition and characterisation is one of the most important steps in AD technology. Knowing the composition of the substrate in the digester is needed to calculating the amount of biogas that can be produced as well as the amount of energy the feedstock contains (Curry and Pillay, 2012). The FW composition differs from place to place and seasonally (Leung and Wang, 2016). The feedstock used for AD should be degradable and should contain nutrients (Kothari *et al.*, 2013) such as carbohydrates, fats, cellulose, hemicellulose and proteins (Weiland, 2010).

According to Leungand and Wang (2016), food rich in lipids can produce a CH<sub>4</sub> yield of 69%, proteins 68% and carbohydrates 50%. The AD process of carbohydrates occurs fast but has low biogas production. Therefore, the yield of biogas produced depends on the feedstock type and retention time (Weiland, 2010). Woody materials are not ideal for AD as they have a high lignin content that is difficult for bacteria to break down.

# 2.8.1 Livestock manure

Livestock manure is the largest agricultural waste category consisting mainly of dairy and pig manure. Improper disposal of livestock waste such as cattle manure can result in health problems, causing unpleasant odours, and pathogen contamination (Abubakar *et al.*, 2012). Historically, manure has been a valuable source of nutrients for crop cultivation. However, the intensification of modern livestock production has caused an extreme manure surplus. Livestock dense areas pose a risk of nutrient losses such as leaching of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) into waterways and emissions into the atmosphere in the form of polluting gases (Oenema *et al.*, 2005).

Biogas production from CD, chicken droppings and pig manure using AD has often been reported in recent years (Table 2.2). According to Mata-Alvarez *et al* (2000), CD is a good substrate for AD and it is widely available. It also contains a naturally occurring mixture of microorganisms responsible for AD. In addition, it is an important resource to improve soil fertility because of its high content of micro and macro- nutrients for crop growth, which makes
it a good bio-fertiliser (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016). The study conducted by El-Mashad and Zhang (2010) found that the CH<sub>4</sub> yield of screened and unscreened manure after 30 days were about 302 and 241 L/kg VS respectively. Cow dung and pig manure were reported to contain a total solid content in the of 3-12% range. Chicken manure contains 10-30% dry matter (Jain *et al.*, 2015). The volatile fatty acid concentration is higher in pig slurry than in CD (Jain *et al.*, 2015). Usually, the volatile fatty acid concentration of animal slurry does not cause inhibition, but it causes fast degradation of organic molecules (Jain *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.8.2 Food waste

Food waste, is a global challenge, costs SA about R61 billion a year (Oliveira, 2013). Food waste account for a large portion of the municipal solid waste in both developed and developing countries (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Leftovers from restaurants and cafeterias, food lost in the manufacturing process, uneaten food (Zhang *et al.*, 2007) and any food that is no longer fit for human consumption are considered as FW. Most of these losses occur during handling, distribution, packaging and storage (Van Schie, 2013). Unfortunately, the quick deterioration of FW causes environmental pollution and bad smells (Hartman and Ahring, 2006).

It has been reported that the GHG emission from the food supply chain is between 2.8 and 4.14 tons of  $CO_2$  equivalent per ton of food (Oliveira, 2013). The AD process treating FW is becoming more popular because of the high moisture content and organic matter contained in this waste stream, which is needed for microbial growth (Zhang *et al.*, 2011). The composition of FW plays an important role in determining the bio-methane potential. A study conducted by Sebola *et al* (2014) states that kitchen waste has a higher moisture content and can be easily degraded. Food waste yielded 0.50 m<sup>3</sup> CH4/kg VS during continuous digestion trials (Lin *et al.*, 2011).

### 2.8.3 Fruit and vegetable waste

Fruit and vegetable waste (FVW) form a very important class of residues because they are produced in large quantities in wholesale markets (Scano *et al.*, 2014). The fruit industry produces many different types of fruit (citrus, tropical and deciduous fruit) in different seasons. These fruit contain low TS, high volatile solids (VS) and is easily degraded in the AD process. However, hydrolysis occurs within a very short period and can lead to acidification of the

process, which inhibits the growth of methanogens (Ward *et al.*, 2008). The fruit and vegetables can be obtained from canning industries, the frozen vegetable industry, fruit pulping and tomato juice industries (Thassitou and Arvanitoyannis, 2001).

Different studies reported on mono-digestion of vegetable and fruit waste as feedstock for biogas production. A study conducted by Bouallagui *et al.* (2005) reveals that fruits and vegetable waste is a very highly degradable substrate with about 70-95% organic matter that can be converted into biogas. In 2004, Gunaseelan studied the biochemical CH<sub>4</sub> potential from fruits which ranged from 0.18 to 0.73 g/VS and vegetables from 0.19 to 0.41 g/VS as substrates for biogas production. Lin *et al.* (2011) investigated the CH<sub>4</sub> production of fruit waste during continuous digestion at 35°C which produced 0.30 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS. Fruits and vegetable wastes are quickly degraded especially when they are damaged or extremely ripe. The average biomethane potential of FW is around 0.367m<sup>3</sup> CH4/kg VS (Curry and Pillay, 2012). Previous studies using FVW as feedstock for AD are shown in Table 2.2.

Category	Substrate	DM%	Ash %	TDN%	Biogas yield
					$(m^3 kg^{-1} VS)$
Manure	Pig	20-25	NA	NA	0.27-0.45
	Buffalo	14	NA	NA	NA
	Poultry	89	33	38	0.3-0.8
	Horse	28	NA	NA	0.4-0.6
	Cow dung	38	14	92	0.6-0.8
Food waste	Whey	94	10	82	NA
	Fruit waste (apples)	17	2	70	NA
	Vegetable waste	20	NA	NA	0.4
	Kitchen /restaurant	27/13	013/8	NA	0.506-
	waste				0.65(CH <sub>4</sub> )
	Left overs food	14-18	NA	NA	0.2-0.5
	Egg waste	25	NA	NA	0.97-0.98
	cereals	85-90	NA	NA	0.4-0.9
Agricultural	rice straw	91	13	40	0.55-0.62
residues					
	maize straw	85	NA	NA	0.4-1.0
	coffee pulp	28	8	NA	0.300-0.450
	Corn stalk	80	7	54	0.350-0.480
	Wheat straw	91	13	40	0.55-0.62

**Table 2.2:** Biogas production using different substrates (Deublein and Steinhauser, 2008;Rajendran *et al.*, 2012).

<sup>\*</sup>DM (dry matter), TDN (total digestible nutrients; NA (not available), VS (volatile solids), TS (total solids).

#### 2.9 Co-digestion

Co-digestion is the breaking down of more than one substrate or waste type in the same digester and is considered profitable in terms of CH<sub>4</sub> production (Iyagba *et al.*, 2009; Khalid *et al.*, 2011; Gashaw and Teshita, 2014). The studies conducted by Sebola *et al.* (2015) and Wang *et al* (2014) found that CO of animal manure with any substrate with high a C/N ratio can increase the yield of the biogas (Gashaw and Teshita, 2014). Co-digestion is also advantageous as it eliminates or reduces challenges associated with bacterial inhibition during the AD process (Sebola *et al*, 2015). Gashaw and Teshita (2014) showed that there is a nutrient balance when FW and animal manure are co-digested that positively influences microbial growth and functioning.

Co-digestion of dairy cow manure, municipal waste and cotton gin waste has resulted in the CH<sub>4</sub> production of 87 m<sup>3</sup>/ton of dry waste (Macias-Corral *et al.*, 2008). Callaghan *et al.* (2002) studied the CO of cattle slurries with FVW and chicken manure in a continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR) with an improved CH<sub>4</sub> yield from 0. 23 to 0. 45 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS added. Li *et al.* (2009) obtained a 44% CH<sub>4</sub> increase when co-digesting CD with FW.

### 2.10 Anaerobic digesters

A biogas digester is an airtight and waterproof vessel that can be cube-shaped or cylindrical (Renwick *et al.*, 2007). It should be designed to maximise or enhance production of CH<sub>4</sub> in a short retention time (Ward *et al.*, 2008). The quantity, characterisation and availability of the feedstock should be taken into consideration when designing and operating the bio-digester (Sebola *et al.*, 2014). There are different types of bio-digesters that operate in different modes but the most commonly used ones are batch reactors, one stage continuously fed and two stage continuously fed reactors (Khalid *et al.*, 2011).

In a batch reactor, the substrate is added to the digester, left for a certain period of time and emptied afterwards (Weiland, 2006; Ward *et al.*, 2008). Batch reactors are advantageous as the AD process occurs fast, they have low maintenance requirements and they are not expensive (Kothari *et al.*, 2014). There are three types of the batch systems, namely the single stage system, sequential system and the upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor (Monnet,

2003). The single stage system involves re-circulating of the leachate at the top of the same reactor. The sequential system comprises of two or more reactors. The leachate form the first reactor is re-circulated to the second reactor where the final stage occurs (Monnet, 2003). The UASB reactor is almost the same as the two-stage batch system. Batch processes are simple to operate, cheap and give results that are more robust. The disadvantage is that it requires a long retention time (Okudoh *et al.*, 2014).

In a one-stage continuously fed reactor, all the AD stages occur in the same reactor (Ward *et al.*, 2008; Khalid *et al.*, 2011; Kondusamy and Kalamdhad, 2014). The substrate is continuously fed into the reactor and an equal amount of what is fed into inside the reactor is removed as effluent (Kothari *et al.*, 2014). The disadvantage of this reactor is that the effluent might be mixed with less digested material (Kothari *et al.*, 2014). The growth rate of fermentative bacteria is faster than acetogenic and methanogenic bacteria. As the pH falls, acids accumulate and this leads to a collapse of the process (Manyi-Loh *et al.*, 2013). The third type is two stage continuously fed bioreactor. In this type of reactor, all the AD stages (hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis) are separated (Ward *et al.*, 2008). Common designs for continuous biogas digesters for domestic or rural use include the fixed dome, floating drum and bag type digesters (Cheng and Liu, 2002).

### 2.11 Substrate pre-treatment

Pre-treatment of a substrate involves removing inorganic material and providing small size particles for efficient digestion. Pre-treatment also involves the addition of chemicals. Pre-treatment is a necessary step to increase biogas yield (Jain *et al.*, 2015). The AD of lignocellulosic material is challenging as it is not easily biodegradable. If the particles size of the substrate are big, it is not easy to create a surface area for the microorganism and the digestion process may take time. Therefore, chemical, physical and biological pre-treatment methods can be applied to accelerate the rate of the AD process especially the hydrolysis step (Andriani *et al.*, 2014). In European countries, substrates such as municipal solid waste (MSW) and FW have to be pasteurized or sterilized prior to AD. The various pre-treatment methods have their advantages and disadvantages, depending on the type of substrate used (Ariunbaatar *et al.*, 2014).

#### 2.12 Digestate

The sustainability of AD depends on the use of all the products of the AD process (Alburquerque *et al.*, 2012). Except the biogas, the solid residue also known as the digestate or slurry can be used as a fertiliser provided the pathogens have reduced to acceptable level (Cioabla *et al.*, 2012). The digestate or slurry produced is an excellent fertiliser, because it is rich in phosphorus, potassium and nitrogen (Teodorita *et al.*, 2008; Islam *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). Moreover; it provides macronutrients that may be inadequate in the soils. Therefore, it can be used as a source of plant nutrients. Mineral nitrogen contained in the digestate is readily available to plants in the form of ammonium (Makádi *et al.*, 2012). The direct use of digestate as a fertiliser or soil amendment in agriculture is currently considered inexpensive (Alburquerque *et al.*, 2012) in comparison with chemical fertilisers. However, the digestate might contain pathogens and heavy metals, depending on the type of substrate used in and the operational conditions of the AD process. The study conducted by Sahlström (2003) found that AD can destroy harmful pathogens such an *Escherichia coli* during digestion especially at high temperatures ensuring that the slurry is free of pathogens.

Conventional agriculture, which has been practiced for a very long time to meet the food demands of the rapidly growing global human population, depends to a large degree on chemical fertilisers, and the frequent or continuous use of chemical fertilisers has led to declining of soil fertility, environmental pollution and heavy-metal pollution (Zhu *et al.*, 2012). It has been shown that a large portion of inorganic phosphates applied to the soil as chemical fertiliser is rapidly immobilised after application and becomes unavailable to the plants (Yadav and Dadarwal, 1997; Rengel and Marschner 2005). Microorganisms contained in the digestate can be utilised in agriculture as inoculants for biological nitrogen fixation, phosphate solubilisation and for their ability to produce plant growth regulators or phytohormones such as indole acetic acid (indole-3-acetic acid, IAA) to improve crop quality and yields (Higa, 1994). Microorganisms which have been isolated from the AD the digestate include *Pseudomonas, Klebsiella, Salmonella, Penicillin, Shigella, Bacteriodes, Aspergillus* and *Bacillus* (Owamah *et al.*, 2015). *Azotobacter, Azospirillum, Enterobacter, Xanthomonas, Serratia. Klebsiella* and *Clostridium* species are nitrogen fixers, while *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas* species are phosphate solubilisers (Alfa *et al.*, 2014).

### 3.1 Ethical clearance

Ethical clearance for this study has been granted by the University of South Africa Research Ethics Review Committee.

## 3.2 Study area

Food waste amples were collected from the Tshwane Market in Pretoria (Site A: latitude: -25.713525 °S, longitude of 28.131973 °E) and cow dung in the Free State province (Site B: Latitude -28.3652 °S, longitude 28.87208 °E) (Figure 3.1). The Tshwane Market was selected because of the continuous production of organic waste such as fruit and vegetables spoiled during packaging, transportation and distribution. The Free State province was selected because of the abundant availability of animal waste and biogas digesters installed for smallholder farmers for energy production.



Figure 3.1: Study area map showing the location where samples were collected.

### **3.3 Sample collection**

The inoculum was collected from a working pre-fabricated household digester operating at ambient temperature, installed and monitored by the Agricultural Research Council (ARC) on a small scale farm situated in Maluti-a-Phofung (Free State). The bio-digester was fed every second day with 20 kg of fresh CD diluted in water in a ratio of 1:1. The biogas produced was used for cooking purposes. Fresh CD was also collected from the farm in Maluti-a-Phofung. Food waste was collected in Tshwane Market. The FW included potato peels, mixed vegetables (spinach, baby marrow and cabbage), mixed fruit (lemon, orange, watermelon and mango) and tomatoes.

All samples were collected once. The samples were collected by hand, wearing gloves, and placed on ice inside a cooler box. All samples were stored at a temperature of -4 °C. Impurities such as plastic, glass and steel were removed from CD and FW within 24 hours of sampling. Prior to the batch AD experiments, the FW was homogenised using a blender (Bouallagui *et al.*, 2005), pasteurised at 70°C for 1 hour (Kirchmayr *et al.*, 2003) and stored at -20°C until use.

### 3.4 Analysis of physico-chemical parameters

The physico-chemical parameters analysed were the pH, total solids (TS), VS and moisture content. For compositional analysis such as the lignin, protein and cellulose samples were sent to the Agricultural Research Council-IRENE laboratory. The hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin content was detected using traditional methods (Robertson and Van Soest, 1981). All FW and CD were analysed prior to the initiation of batch experiments. The pH was measured using a pH meter (AD 1030).

## 3.4.1 Determination of dry matter (total solids)

Dry matter (DM) content was determined in an oven at 105°C for 24 h by drying a known weight of the sample ( $W_s$ ) and measuring the weight after drying ( $W_{DM}$ ), as described by Poulsen *et al.* (2011). The percentage of DM was calculated as follows:

 $DM(\%) = 100 \times W_{DM}/W_{S}$ 

### Where:

W<sub>s=</sub> refers to the weight of the sample

(1)

### 3.4.2 Determination of volatile solids

Volatile solids were measured using the method described by Cioabla *et al.* (2012) with some modification. Dried samples were combusted at 550°C for 24 h and the weight of the ash (W<sub>ash</sub>) was measured afterwards. The VS was calculated as follows:

Volatile solid (%) = 
$$100 \times (W_{DM} - Wash) / W_{DM}$$
 (2)

## Where:

 $W_{DM}$ = weight after drying  $W_{ash}$  = weight of the sample after drying at 550°C

## 3.4.3 Determination of moisture content

Samples were weighed in a dish and dried in an oven at 105°C overnight (Cioabla *et al.*, 2012). The weight of the dried sample plus the empty dish was noted and the percentage of moisture was measured using the following equation:

Moisture content (%) = 
$$(m_2 - m_1) - (m_3 - m_1) / (m_2 - m_1) \times 100$$
 (3)

## Where:

 $m_1$  = mass in grams of the empty dish,

 $m_2$ = mass in grams of sample before drying plus the empty dish,

 $m_3$  = mass in grams of sample after drying plus empty dish.

# 3.5 Biochemical methane potential test

The batch culture experiments were conducted in airtight 500 mL gas infusion bottles with rubber septa. The fresh inoculum was used as suggested by Angelidaki *et al.* (2009) from the bio-digester producing biogas. Fruit and vegetable waste is known to be acidic in nature. When using acidic substrates in AD, a high inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) is recommended because it increases the rate of biogas production and improves the buffering capacity (Raposo *et al.*, 2009). A 3:1 (inoculum: substrate) ratio was therefore chosen for batch analyses.

Each substrate without inoculum served as controls. All the experiments had a working volume of 250 mL. In all controls, 25 g of substrate was added (Table 3.1). For all experiments, 18.75 g of inoculum with 6.25 g of the substrate were mixed and water was added to a total volume of 250mL. The headspace in all batch bottles was flushed or purged with nitrogen gas for 5

minutes to remove excess oxygen inside the bottles. The bottles were incubated at 30°C (mesophilic condition) in a shaker incubator at 90 rpm to ensure continuous homogenisation of the substrate and the inoculum throughout the experiment (Figure 3.2). The experiment was conducted for 21 days in triplicate.

Substrates	Inoculum	Fruit	Veg	Tomato	Potato	Mixed	Cow	Controls
(3:1)					peels	FW	dung	
1	25g	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	18.75g	6.25g	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	18.75g	0	6.25g	0	0	0	0	0
4	18.75g	0	0	6.25g	0	0	0	0
5	18.75g	0	0	0	6.25g	0	0	0
6	18.75g	0	0	0	0	6.25g	0	0
7	18.75g	0	0	0	0	0	6.25g	0
8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25g

**Table 3.1:** Treatment patterns for biochemical methane potential.

\*Controls refer to fruits, vegetables, tomato, potato peels, mixed food waste (MFW) without addition of inoculum



Figure 3.2: Experimental setup of batch AD cultures in a shaker incubator operating at 30°C

## 3.6 Biogas analysis

Biogas production was monitored by measuring the pressure build up in the headspace of the bottles. The measurements were taken every second day. The pressure (mbar) was measured using a digital manometer (MP 210 KIMO® THERMO-ANEMO-MANOMETERS). The daily biogas production was calculated using equation 4 (El-Mashad and Zhang, 2010).

$$V_{\text{Biogas}} = \frac{P.V_{\text{head}}.C}{R.T}$$
(4)

### Where:

V Biogas = daily biogas volume (L) P= absolute pressure difference (mbar) V head= volume of the head space (L) C=molar volume (22. 41 Lmol<sup>-1</sup>) R= universal gas constant (83. 14 L mbarK<sup>-1</sup>mol<sup>-1</sup>) Temperature =absolute temperature (K)

The biogas composition was monitored using gas chromatography (GC) model 8610C (SRI, USA) equipped with thermal conductivity detector (TCD) with helium as a carrier gas. After measuring the pressure, 2 mL of biogas sample was injected into the GC for compositional analysis. Gases measured included CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>. The CH<sub>4</sub> production was recorded as a percentage and converted into volume of CH<sub>4</sub> in (L CH<sub>4</sub>) to calculate the accumulated CH<sub>4</sub> production (Nurliyana *et al*, 2015). The CH<sub>4</sub> yield was thereafter converted to volume of CH<sub>4</sub> produced relative to the quantity of the organic matter added. The CH<sub>4</sub> yield was calculated using equation 5, as previously used by Nurliyana *et al*. (2015).

Methane yield 
$$(LCH_4/gVS) = \frac{Cumulative volume of CH4 (LCH_4)}{Mass of the original VS content (gVS)}$$
 (5)

### 3.8 Semi-continuous digestion

Based on the results of the batch experiments, two substrates that produced the highest CH<sub>4</sub> yield were chosen for semi-continuous culture trials. The semi-continuous digestion experiments were conducted in 20 L continuous stirred tank reactors with a working volume of 14 L. Three runs were carried out (two mono digestions and one co-digestion). For monodigestion, cow dung and MFVW were used individually and for co-digestion, MFVW and cow dung were digested together (1:3). The digesters were operated for a period of 40 days at a constant temperature of 30 °C  $\pm$ 1 (Figure 3.3). Freshly prepared substrate mixture (1400 ml) was added to each reactor every second day and an equivalent volume was removed before each addition to maintain a constant volume inside the reactor. The leachate samples were used for microbiology analysis and the pH, VS, DM and ash content were measured. The VS, DM and moisture contents were analysed as set out in sections 3.4.1, 3.4.2 and 3.4.3 respectively. The biogas production was monitored every second day using the automated gas counter and 2 mL samples were analysed into the GC for gas composition analysis.



Figure 3.3: Semi-continuous AD trials in 20 L continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR).

# 3.9 Culture independent method (molecular techniques)

## 3.9.1 DNA extraction

Prior to DNA extraction, the samples collected from the semi-continuous digestion run were centrifuged at 11 200rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was then removed using a pipette. Genomic DNA was extracted using the Powersoil DNA extraction kit (MO BIO Laboratories) recommended by Roopnarain *et al.* (2017). The DNA was extracted according to the manufacturer's instructions. The resulting DNA extract was stored at -20  $^{\circ}$ C until further processing.

## 3.9.2 DNA quantification

A Qubit fluorimeter (Invitrogen, USA) was used to measure the quantity of DNA extracted using the Qubit® dsDNA HS Assay Kit as per manufacturer's instructions.

# 3.9.3 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

The V3-V4 region of the 16S rRNA genes were amplified using universal bacterial primers 341F and 907R (Muyzer *et al.*, 1993) and archaeal primers 0357F and 915aR (Table 3.2) as suggested by Watanabe *et al* (2004). The PCR was performed in a T100<sup>TM</sup> thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The PCR cycling conditions are listed in Table 3.3. Each PCR reaction contained: 0.2  $\mu$ M of each primer set, 10  $\mu$ L of 2x Phusion Flash PCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific), 50 ng of the template DNA and nuclease free water was added to make up the final volume of 20  $\mu$ L. The integrity of the PCR product was evaluated by gel electrophoresis on a 1 % agarose gel (w/v) stained with ethidium bromide. The gel was viewed using the Bio-Rad Gel Doc<sup>TM</sup> EZ imager (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA).

**Table 3.2:** Nucleotide sequences of primers used for molecular identification of bacteria and archaea targeting V3-V4 region

Primer	Nucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Annealing	Reference
		temperature (°C)	
341F	CCTACGGAGGCAGCAG	50.9	(Myzer <i>et al.</i> ,1993)
907R	CCGTCAATTCCTTTGAGTTT		
0357F	CCCTACGGGGGCGCAGCAG	69	(Watanabe et al.,
			2004)
0915aR	GTGCTCCCCCGCCAATTCCT		

Cycle steps	Temperature (°C)	Time (s)	Cycles
Initial denaturation	98	10	1
Denaturation	98	1	
Annealing	Listed (Table 3.2)	5	30
Extension	72	15	
Final extension	72	15	1

**Table 3.3**: PCR cycling conditions used for the amplification of DNA from bacteria and archaea

 with different annealing temperatures

## 3.9.4 DGGE

DGGE was performed using the protocol of Muyzer *et al.* (1993) with a Dcode<sup>TM</sup> Universal Mutation Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, SA). A 100% denaturing solution that contained 40% formamide (vol/vol) and 7 M urea was prepared. Touchdown PCR was performed for bacteria using 341F-GC and 907R primers. The annealing temperature used decreased from 65°C to 55°C in 20 cycles. For archaea, a nested PCR was conducted using 0357F and 0915aR primers (Table 3.2). The obtained PCR product was then re-amplified using 0357F-GC and 0691R primers (Table 3.4). The annealing temperature was 57 °C (Ikenaga et al., 2004; Watanabe et al., 2004). The sequence-specific separation of the PCR fragments was obtained in 8% (wt/vol) polyacrylamide (40% acrylamide-N, bisacrylamide, 37.5:1[wt/vol]) using denaturing gradient ranges of 60-40% for bacterial samples and 60-25% for archaeal samples. A stacking gel containing 8% (wt/vol) polyacrylamide was applied onto the denaturing gel. A volume of 18 µL PCR samples with 5µL of the loading dye was loaded onto the stacking gel. Electrophoresis was performed at 200 V for 15 minutes, then at 100 V for 16 hours. The 0.5 X TAE buffer was maintained at 60°C throughout the run. Gels were stained with GelRed for 45 minutes, it was then viewed and photographed using a UV transilluminator (Bio-Rad Gel DocTM EZ imager [Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA]).

Primer	Nucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Reference	
0691R	GGATTACARGATTTCAC	(Watanabe	et
		al., 2004)	
0357F-GC	CGCCCGCCGCGCGCGGCGGGGGGGGGGGCA		
	CGGGGGGCCCTACGGGGCGCAGCAG		
341F-GC	CGCCCGGGGCGCGCCCCGGGCGGGGGGGGGGCA	(Muyzer	et
	CGGGGGGCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG	al.,1993)	
907R	CCGTCAATTCCTTTGAGTTT		

 Table 3.4: Nucleotide sequences of PCR-DGGE primers used.

## 3.9.5 Analysis of DGGE profiles

DGGE band detection and quantification of band intensity were performed using Image Lab software (Bio-Rad). Equations 6 and 7 were used to calculate the Shannon-Wiener (H') as suggested by (Xu *et al.*, 2013) and Simpsons indices (Magurran, 1988).

$$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{s} pilnpi \tag{6}$$

$$D = \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i^2$$
 (7)

where pi is the proportion of the community composed of species i (intensity of band i/the total intensity of all bands in the lane) and S is the total number of bands in each sample lane. To ensure that the Simpsons index increases with increasing diversity, 1/D was used instead of the original formula.

## 3.9.6 PCR amplification for illumina Next Generation Sequencing (NGS)

PCR amplification of the 16S rRNA gene hypervariable V3-V4 region was performed with 341F and 805R primers (Table 3.5). Overhangs were attached to the 5' end of the forward and reverse primers (Illumina Inc., Calfornia, USA). PCR was performed in a T100 <sup>TM</sup> thermal cycler (Bio-Rad laboratories). The amplification mix contained 12.5 ng template DNA, 5  $\mu$ M of forward and reverse primers, 12.5  $\mu$ L of 2x KAPA HiFi HotStart ReadyMix (KAPA

Biosystems, Massachusetts, USA) and nuclease-free water to make up a final volume of 25  $\mu$ L. Samples were initially denatured at 95 °C for 3 min, 30 cycles denaturation at 95 °C for 30 min, annealing followed at 55 °C for 30s and a final extension of 30s at 72 °C. The positive and negative controls were used to check primer or DNA contamination. PCR products were run on a 1% agarose gel. Sequencing was performed at the Agricultural Research Council-biotechnology platform.

**Table 3.5:** Nucleotide sequences of primers used for Next generation sequencing targeting V3 

 V4 region

Primer	Nucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Annealing temperature	References
		(°C)	
341F	CCTACGGAGGCAGCAG	55	(Muyzer <i>et al.</i> ,1993)
805R	GACTACHVGGGTATCTAATCC		

## 3.9.7 Data analysis for NGS sequencing

The received 16S sequencing data was analysed using the bioinformatics pipeline QIIME (Ziganshina *et al.*, 2017). The quality of the sequence reads were checked using FastQC software. Merging of the reverse and forward sequences was accomplished using PANDAseq. The sequences were clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTU) with "pick\_open.reference\_otus.py" script using Mothur software (Caporaso *et al.*, 2010). The alpha diversity (Chao analyses, coverage, evenness value, Shannon and Simpson index) were calculated using R to characterise the microbial diversity of the biogas digester samples (Claesson *et al.*, 2012).

### 3.10 Culture dependent methods

For this objective, fresh CD used as feedstock for the digester and the digestate from the digester outlet were collected in triplicate in sterile plastic bags. Samples were collected from a working pre-fabricated, fixed dome household anaerobic digester situated in Qwa-Qwa, Free State province in SA (Latitude -28, 3652 °S, longitude 28, 87208 °E).

### 3.10.1 Analytical methods

The influent and effluent samples were analysed before and after for the pH, VS, DM and ash content as set out in (sections 3.4.1, 3.4.2 and 3.4.3). For detection of heavy metals and nutrient content (N, P and K), samples of fresh CD and digestate were transported to the Agricultural Research Council-Institute for Soil Climate and Water (ARC-ISCW) analytical laboratory in Pretoria. The dried and ground samples were digested by HNO<sub>3</sub> to determine heavy metal concentrations. A 1.0g sample was digested after adding 21mL of acid. The analyses were conducted using inductively coupled plasma mass spectrophotometry (ICP-MS).

### 3.10.2 Isolation of bacteria

One gram of dung and digestate was transferred to sterile distilled water and serially diluted up to  $10^{-8}$ . For each dilution,  $100 \ \mu$ L was spread on nutrient agar and the plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 24 hours. Individual bacterial colonies were selected on the basis of their distinct morphological characteristics and sub culturing was conducted until pure colonies were obtained. Pure isolates were preserved in glycerol (-80 °C freezer).

### 3.11 Assessment of soil fertility attributes

### 3.11.1 Screening for phosphate solubilisation bacteria

The phosphate solubilisation ability of the bacterial isolates was investigated using the National Botanical Research Institute's phosphate (NBRIP) growth medium (Nautiyal, 1999; Adeleke *et al.*, 2015). The medium contained per litre; 10g of glucose, 5 g of insoluble Ca<sub>3</sub>(PO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub> as a source of phosphate, 5 g MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.25 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2 g KCl, 0.1 g (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and 15 g agar. The pH of the medium was adjusted to 7. 0. Ten micro liter of 48 hour culture was transferred to the wells created on the NBRIP medium. The halo zones and colony diameters were measured after 7 days of incubation at 37 °C. Formation of visible halo zones around the microbial colonies on NBRIP media indicates the phosphate solubilisation ability of the microorganisms. The ability of bacteria to solubilise insoluble phosphate was described by the solubilisation index (SI) (equation 6) (Bhawalkar, 1996).

 $SI = \frac{Colony\ diameter\ +halo\ zone\ diameter\ }{Colony\ diameter}$ 

(8)

## 3.11.2 Nitrogen fixation

The isolates were grown on nitrogen free (Burk's) medium. The medium contained in a litre; 0.2 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.80 g K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2 g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.130 g CaSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.00145 g FeCl<sub>3</sub>, 0.000253 g Na<sub>2</sub>MoO<sub>4</sub>, 20 g Sucrose and 15 g Agar. Plates were incubated at 30°C for 2- 3 days. The isolates that were able to grow after incubation indicated the potential to fix nitrogen, which is advantageous for plant growth (Bello-Akinosho *et al.*, 2016).

## 3.11.3 Indole acetic assay (IAA)

The detection of IAA production was carried out as described by Bric *et al.* (1991) with some modifications. Isolates were cultured in LB broth supplemented with L-Tryptophan for 24 hours. Fully grown cultures were centrifuged at 10 000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. One mL of the supernatant was mixed with 2 mL of Salkowski reagent and incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at room temperature. A colour change of the reagent from yellow to pink indicated indole production.

## 3.11.4 16S rDNA gene amplification using colony PCR

Pure isolates were subjected to colony PCR (Obi *et al.*, 2016). Pure colonies were used as a template DNA. The 16S rRNA was amplified using universal bacterial primers (907R and 341F). The cycling conditions are indicated in Table 3.3.

## 3.12 Phylogenetic assignment, alignment and clustering of 16S rRNA gene fragments

The PCR products were sent for Sanger sequencing at the Central Analytical Facilities (CAF) at the Stellenbosch University. Sequences were inspected and edited using BioEdit Sequence Editor (http://www.mbio.ncsu.edu/bioedit/bioedit). Alignment For the preliminary identification of isolates, the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) gene bank applying used. the basic alignment tool was search (BLAST) (http://www.ezbiocloud.net/eztaxon). Mothur software was used to cluster sequences into OTUs at a sequence similarity of 97% (Bello-Akinosho et al., 2016). A phylogenetic tree was constructed with a neighbour-joining tree using the maximum composite likelihood model and 1 000 bootstrap replications in MEGA7.

## **3.13 Statistical analyses**

The significant differences between the CH<sub>4</sub> yield and the physico-chemical parameters measured were evaluated by two-way ANOVA using XLSTAT version 2015. Student's t-LSD (least significant difference) was calculated at a 5% significance level to compare the means of significant source effects. The correlation to determine the association between variables was performed using SAS version 9.4 (Statistical Analysis System Institute, 1999).

## 4.1 Anaerobic digestion in batch experiment

### 4.1.1 Compositional analyses

Compositional analysis of raw substrates was conducted prior to batch culture experiments. Substrates were characterised individually and a mixture of all FW in equal amounts was characterised. The results of the physico-chemical and biochemical characteristics of the substrates used in the current study are shown in Table 4.1. Potato peels had the highest carbohydrate content (calculated based on the dry matter). The VS ranged between 80 and 95%, potato peels having the highest. The moisture content ranged between 78 and 95% with tomato waste having the highest moisture content followed by vegetable waste, fruits waste, MFW, potato peels and CD respectively.

Analyses	MFW	Vegetables	Fruits	Tomato	Potato peels	CD	Inoculum
Dry matter %	8.10	6.00	6.36	4.61	14.25	21.25	8.95
VS (DM %)	87.5	80.00	90.92	87.18	93.13	86.29	5.51
Moisture %	91.9	94.00	93.64	95.39	85.75	78.75	91.05
Protein (DM %)	13.95	17.83	11.47	22.99	9.75	19.95	8.26
Fat (DM %)	6.41	13.83	4.24	4.98	2.52	11.81	2.45
Carbohydrates (DM %)	69.87	49.66	77.044	60.30	81.89	55.53	50.83
NDF (DM %)	28.64	29.66	27.67	33.18	18.03	46.02	35.97
ADF (DM %)	18.51	18.83	22.01	31.67	8.91	23.48	16.20
ADL (DM %)	4.44	1.83	4.40	8.67	4.14	5.76	1.34
Cellulose (DM %)	14.07	17.00	17.61	22.99	4.77	18.07	14.86
Hemicellulose (DM %)	10.12	10.83	5.66	1.51	9.12	22.54	34.63

**Table 4.1:** The initial chemical composition of substrates used in batch experiment. Neutral detergent fibre (NDF), Acid detergent fibre (ADF),

 Acid detergent lignin (ADL).

\*Cellulose =ADF-ADL

Hemicellulose=NDF-ADF

# 4.1.2 pH

The initial and final pH of substrates used in the batch experiments are presented in Figure 4.1. All the controls had a pH range of between 4 and 5 before and after AD, except for the inoculum which had a pH above 7. Potato peels and CD with inoculum had a high pH before AD but the pH decreased after AD. In the rest of the substrates with inoculum, the pH value increased after the AD process.



**Figure 4.1:** pH measurements before and after AD process (batch experiments). Error bars representing standard deviation (n=3). I=inoculum and MFW=mixed food waste, C=control (digestion with FW alone are specified as control).

### 4.1.3 Batch methane production

The cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production during AD in the batch experiments is shown in Figure 4.2. All FW and CD produced CH<sub>4</sub> but with varying yield. No significant difference was observed in the CH<sub>4</sub> yield with CD, MFW, vegetables and tomatoes (P>0.05) at the end of the digestion process. However, the CH<sub>4</sub> yield obtained from fruits waste and potato peels were lower than of tomatoes, CD, MFW and vegetables (P<0.05). The fruit and potato peel wastes produced the lowest CH<sub>4</sub> (P>0.05). None of the FW controls produced CH<sub>4</sub> but only CO<sub>2</sub> was produced. The vegetables, tomatoes, MFW, CD and fruits had low C/N ratio ranging between 12-19, and potato peels had a C/N ratio of 27 (Table 4.2 ).



**Figure 4.2:** Cumulative methane production using different substrates. Error bars representing standard deviation (n=3). Digestion with FW alone are specified as control.

Substrates	С	N	C/N	L CH <sub>4</sub> /g VS (last day)
Tomato	41.49	3.39	12.22	0.25
Potato peels	40.18	1.46	27.56	0.05
Vegetables	36.81	2.73	13.50	0.23
MFW	205.6	12.11	16.97	0.24
Fruits	42.55	2.21	19.28	0.06
CD	44.64	2.31	19.31	0.21

Table 4.2: Summary of the AD digestion parameters using FW and CD

### 4.2 Biogas production in semi-continuous digestion

The cumulative biogas yield for all semi-continuous experiments is shown in Figure 4.3. The highest yield was achieved with CO followed by CD and MFW respectively. The trends in treatments were the same when biogas yield increased with time.



Figure 4.3: Influence of substrate type on biogas production in semi-continuous digestions

The pH was not controlled during the entire process but measured at different intervals. The initial pH for all experiments varied. Cow dung and MFW decreased at the beginning of the process while in CO, a drop in pH was observed on day 11 (Figure 4.4). The pH in CO and CD trials increased again and was almost within the range or stabilised during the entire digestion process. However, the pH of MFW decreased significantly and it was within the range of 4.3-4.9.



Figure 4.4: pH measured at different days for all substrates used.

The highest CH<sub>4</sub> production (67%) in total biogas produced was obtained from CO followed by CD (52%) and the lowest CH<sub>4</sub> was achieved from MFW at the end of the digestion process. Fluctuations in CH<sub>4</sub> production were recorded mostly in MFW after day 10 compared to other treatments. The CH<sub>4</sub> production decreased significantly and 18% was recorded at the end of the digestion process for MFW (Figure 4.5). The CO<sub>2</sub> content was higher at the beginning of the process but decreased with increasing CH<sub>4</sub> content in CD and CO.



Figure 4.5: Cumulative methane production during AD digestion process.

## 4.3 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis was performed to investigate the bacterial and archaeal community shifts during the AD process. The PCR-DGGE profiles showed highly diverse microbial assemblages in CO in comparison with MFW and CD. The DGGE pattern changed slightly as the digestion process progressed in all treatments. In the initial stage, the banding pattern was similar especially with archaea (Figures 4.6 &4.7). The intensity and quantity of bands in CO were also stronger compared to those of CD and MFW digested alone. The increased diversity of bacterial species with bright and faint bands resulted in a smear in the DGGE pattern from CD.

The Shannon-Weaner (H') and inverse Simpson's indices (1/D) were used to estimate the bacterial and archaeal diversity (Table 4.3). The Shannon-Weaner index represents the species abundance and uniform distribution (Dilly *et al.*, 2004). The H' and 1/D values fluctuated throughout the digestion process. The highest H' and 1/D were observed with the CO of substrates and the lowest with CD. The H' values in CO ranged from 2.12 to 2.84 in archaea and from 2.63 to 3.24 in bacteria. The H' and 1/D order were as follows: CO >MFW> CD (Table 4.3). Lower CH<sub>4</sub> production towards the end of the process was observed in MFW digestion with higher H' and 1/D values.





**Figure 4.6:** DGGE gel showing the dominant archaeal communities obtained from the digester. The bands were separated on 8% polyacrylamide gel with denaturing gradient of 60-25%. A-CD, B-MFW and C-CO. Lane 1-13, samples collected during semi-continuous AD of each treatment.





**Figure 4.7:** DGGE gel showing the dominant bacterial communities obtained from the digester. The bands were separated on 8% polyacrylamide gel with denaturing gradient of 60-40%. A-CD, B-MFW and C-CO. Lane 1-13, samples collected during semi-continuous AD of each treatment.

**Table 4.3:** Bacterial and Archaeal diversity indices obtained from CD (A), MFW (B) and CO (C)

A

Archaea	CD											
H'	1.96	2.08	2.22	2.16	2.32	2.28	4.15	2.07	2.11	2.19	2.18	2.34
1/D	4.80	5.37	5.71	6.01	6.42	6.69	4.96	5.66	6.01	6.61	6.69	7.28
Bacteria												
H'	2.07	2.39	2.29	1.69	2.26	2.38	2.21	2.25	2.07	2.36	2.20	2.02
1/D	4.82	6.14	6.19	4.3	5.83	6.6	6.17	7.28	4.87	8.00	6.48	3.87

B

Archaea	MFW	r										
H'	2.20	2.54	2.43	2.28	2.29	2.28	2.49	2.38	2.37	2.62	2.33	2.66
1/D	6.16	10.11	8.69	6.24	6.12	6.50	6.9	6.52	7.06	10.19	6.35	10.95
Bacteria												
Н'	2.23	2.75	2.77	2.82	2.84	2.94	3.03	2.99	3.00	3.02	3.18	2.82
1/D	6.25	10.00	8.75	10.13	10.26	10.83	12.23	12.58	13.63	11.90	16.96	10.35
С	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

Archaea	СО											
H'	2.84	2.56	2.12	2.25	2.34	2.56	2.56	2.50	2.66	2.64	2.55	2.51
1/D	12.01	8.55	4.54	5.30	5.93	9.24	9.24	8.90	9.36	9.72	9.21	8.96
Bacteria												
H'	2.47	2.63	2.91	2.94	3.04	3.03	3.05	3.24	3.08	3.05	2.94	2.86
1/D	7.31	8.10	12.94	14.09	13.34	14.31	14.41	20.50	15.48	13.47	12.16	10.40

#### 4.4 Next generation sequencing (NGS)

To investigate the relationship between the microbial diversity and biogas production, samples were taken when the CH<sub>4</sub> levels were low, intermediate and high from semi-continuous digester runs using CD, MFW and CO i.e. CD and MFW. The microbial community richness is indicated by the number of observed OTUs, Chao1, Shannon index and Simpson's index. The number of OTUs observed in each treatment is shown in Table 4.4. The highest number of OTUs was observed when the CH<sub>4</sub> production was intermediate in CD followed by MFW and lastly CO. The Chao1 richness estimator (Table 4.4) indicated that there was greater species richness when the CH<sub>4</sub> was in an intermediate phase in all reactors. In general, the microbial communities in all reactors were diverse.

The relative abundance and taxonomic distribution of microbial communities in each sample were analysed at phylum, class, order and genus level. Thirty-four phyla were identified including *Euryarchaeota, Miscellaneous Crenarchaeotic Group, Acidobacteria, Actinobacteria, Armatimonadetes, Atribacteria, Bacteroidetes, Candidate division WS6, Chlorobi, Chloroflexi, Cloacimonetes, Cyanobacteria and Deferribacteres. Other identified phyla are Deinococcus-Thermus, Elusimicrobia, Fibrobacteres, Firmicutes, Fusobacteria, Gemmatimonadetes, Hydrogenedentes, Latescibacteria, Lentisphaerae, Microgenomates, Nitrospirae, Parcubacteria, Planctomycetes, Proteobacteria, SHA-109, Saccharibacteria, Spirochaetae, Synergistetes, Tenericutes, Thermotogae and Verrucomicrobia.* 

However, the phyla *Bacteroidetes* followed by *Firmicutes*, *Actinobacteria* and *Proteobacteria* were dominant or distributed in varying amounts in all treatments (Figure 4.8). *Firmicutes* were predominant in MFW when the CH<sub>4</sub> production was high, (MFW-H, 55%) followed by CD (CD-H, 50.3%). Lower abundance of the phylum *Actinobacteria* was observed in CO which range between (0.2-0.4%), MFW (0.05-7.13%) and highest in CD (0.2-15.91%). In the phyla *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes*, the class *Bacteroidia* followed by *Clostridia* were present in abundance in all treatments. However, the classes *Negativicutes* and *Gammaproteobacteria* were dominant in MFW especially when the CH<sub>4</sub> production was in the intermediate and high phases, and least distributed in CO (Figure 4.9). The genus *Syntrophomonas* predominated in CO. (Figure 4.11). An enormous portion of unclassified and uncultured bacteria was obtained at the genus and order level. In archaea, two phyla *Eurychaeota* and *Crenarchaeota* were

detected in all samples. However, the phylum Euryarchaeota, which includes the methanogens that are responsible for CH<sub>4</sub> production was predominant in CO in comparison with other treatments. The relative abundance of archaeal communities at genus level is shown in Figure 4.12. Methanobrevibacter, Methanosarcina, and Methanobacterium in that order were present in large quantities. Other methanogens found were Methanosphaera, Methanocorpusculum, Methanospirillum, Methanoculleus, *Methanoregula*, Methanosaeta, Candidatus Methanogranum, Candidatus Methanoplasma, Methanomassiliicoccus and uncultured archaeon. Methanobrevibacter genera were present in large quantities in CD and MFW but less prevalent in CO. Comparably, the genus Methanocarsina was present in large quantities in CO compared to the other treatments. Candidatus and Methanoplasma were less abundant in all treatments. When the CH<sub>4</sub> production was low the methanogens were present in small quantities.

Treatments	Categories	CH <sub>4</sub> (%)	Observed	chao1	Shannon	Simpson
			OTUs		index	index (D)
					(H')	
CD	Low	23	2414	3042.51	5.91	9.04
	Intermediate	36	2889	3515.12	6.64	24.55
	High	50	2018	2686.99	6.39	33.32
	High	52	2110	2753.00	6.51	33.26
MFW	Low	15	1737	2389.63	6.20	23.66
	Intermediate	29	2673	3418.92	6.89	39.01
	High	41	1840	2529.37	5.93	27.40
	High	42	1973	2682.22	5.92	15.437
CO	Low	17	2316	3061.79	6.63	25.59
	Intermediate	27	2540	3425.78	5.91	10.51
	High	49	1703	2204.00	6.32	27.15
	High	67	1942	2533.22	6.40	25.97

**Table 4.4:** Community richness and alpha diversity from bacterial and archaeal communities. Chao 1 estimates the richness (higher value means higher richness). The  $CH_4$  production was categorised into three classes: Low (0-25%), Intermediate (26-40%) and high (41-80%).



**Figure 4.8:** Relative abundance of the microbial communities of different treatments at phyla level ( CD- cow dung, FW- mixed food waste, CO-codigestion of cow dung and mixed food waste).


**Figure 4.9:** Relative abundance of the microbial community of different treatments at class taxa-level (CD- cow dung, FW- mixed food waste, CO-codigestion of cow dung and mixed food waste).



**Figure 4.10:** Relative abundance of the microbial community of different treatments at orders taxa ( CD- cow dung, FW- mixed food waste, CO-codigestion of cow dung and mixed food waste).



**Figure 4.11**: Relative abundance of the microbial community of different treatments at genus taxa. All sequences with less than 1% were excluded (CD- cow dung, FW- mixed food waste, CO-codigestion of cow dung and mixed food waste).



**Figure 4.12**: Relative abundance of Archaeal community of different treatments at genus level (CD- cow dung, FW- mixed food wastes, CO-codigestion of cow dung and mixed food waste).

# 4.5 Plant growth promotion experiments

# 4.5.1Physico-chemical parameters before and after AD

The physico-chemical characteristics of dung and digestate were compared (Table 4.5). The dry matter, potassium, phosphorus and VS decreased in the digestate (P<0.05). However, no significant variation was evident in the pH, nitrogen and carbon content of the dung and digestate (P>0.05). Furthermore, the C/N ratio was higher in the dung than in the digestate.

Nutrient content	Dung	Digestate
pH (%)	7.4±0.15	7.73±0.05
DM (%)	$21.78{\pm}0.43$	$14.21 \pm 0.22$
VS (%)	80.98 ±0.67	$63.98 \pm 0.33$
Nitrogen (ppm)	1.6±0.05	1.91±0.02
Potassium (ppm)	0.9±0.03	0.56±0.02
Phosphorus (ppm)	0.43±0.02	0.26±0.01
Carbon (%)	39.651±0.46	36.76±0.28
C/N	24.78	19.24

Table 4.5: The physico-chemical parameters of the digester feedstock before and after AD

 $n=3; \pm$  standard deviation

# 4.5.2 Heavy metal analysis

In SA, there is no legislation or guidelines for heavy metal content in digestate. Therefore, the fertiliser regulations of the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF, 2012) were used. The heavy metals in the dung and the digestate were below the threshold recommended by DAFF. The mean concentration of heavy metals before and after the AD process is shown in Figure 4.13. There was a significant decrease in the levels of Mn, Cu, Sr, Sn, and Ba after AD (P<0.05).



**Figure 4.13:** Heavy metal analyses from the dung and digestate: Error bars represent standard deviation (n=3)

# 4.5.3 Screening for phosphate solubilisation, IAA production and nitrogen fixation

Twenty-four bacterial isolates were obtained, 15 from the dung and 9 from the digestate. Selection of isolates was based on variations in the morphological characteristics of the bacterial colonies (Table 4.6). The isolates were screened for their ability to solubilise insoluble forms of phosphate. More isolates from the dung were able to solubilise phosphate than those obtained from the digestate (Figure 4.14). From the nitrogen fixation and IAA production assays, similar trends were observed in that more isolates from the dung were able to fix atmospheric nitrogen and produce IAA than the digestate isolates.

No. of isolates	Shape	Elevation	Margin	Colour
7	Round	Raised	Smooth	Off white
4	Round	Raised	Smooth	Whitish
9	Round	Raised	Smooth	Yellowish
2	Round	Raised	Smooth	Brownish
2	Round	Flat	smooth	yellowish





**Figure 4.14:** Phosphate solubilisation, nitrogen fixation and indole acetic acid production of bacterial isolates.

# 4.5.4 Community analysis for plant growth promoting abilities

Sequences of the isolates were clustered into seven OTUs (Table 4.7). The phylogenetic tree of the representative OTUs was constructed using the neighbour joining method (Figure 4.15). Four genera were obtained from the dung and three genera from the digestate. Shared genera from both samples included *Acinetobacter* and *Bacillus*.

OTUs	No.	of	Accession numbers of sequences	Representative	Genera	Phyla
	sequences			isolates		
OTU1	17		MF044461,MF044462,MF044463	S7b	Acinetobacter	Proteobacteria
			MF044464,MF044465,MF044466,			
			MF044467,MF044469,MF044471,			
			MF044472,MF044473,MF044474,			
			MF044474,MF044475,MF044477			
			MF044479,MF044480.			
OTU2	2		MF044482 MF044476	D16	Escherichia	Proteobacteria
0102	2		111 011102,111 011170	210	Lisenerienia	1 10100000000010110
OTU3	1		MF044468	D19a	Staphylococcus	Firmicutes
OTU4	1		MF044478	D8	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
OTU5	1		MF044484	D17c	Bacillus	Firmicutes
OTU6	1		MF044485	S20a	Bacillus	Firmicutes
OTU7	1		MF044470	S22	Pseudomonas	Proteobacteria

**Table 4.7:** OTUs in relation to the phyla and sequence they contain



# 0.1

**Figure 4.15:** The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Jukes-Cantor method and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* was used as anoutgroup. The analysis involved 24 nucleotide sequences. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7. Seven OTUs were generated using MOTHUR software (97% similarities). The relatives of the OTUs were obtained from NCBI.

## 5.1 Anaerobic digestion in the batch experiments

#### 5.1.1 Compositional analyses

Characterisation of organic waste is crucial when designing and operating the digester (Garcia-Peña *et al.*, 2011). In a study by Ward *et al.* (2008), it was found that FVWs mainly consist of low TS and high VS, findings that were also observed in this study. The values of the VS and moisture content of FW are comparable with those of Bouallagui *et al.* (2005). The VS and moisture content results revealed that all substrates used contained a high energy content, which is desirable for biogas production. A high moisture content facilitates the AD process (Boullagui *et al.*, 2003), which indicates that CD and FW are good substrates for AD. Food waste contains more than 30% cellulose, 10% hemicellulose and lignin (Mata-Alvarez *et al.*, 1992). Low lignin content was recorded in all substrates used. This is advantageous because substrates with high lignin contents tend to slow down the AD process due to a decreased decomposition rates (Nurliyana *et al.*, 2015) because microorganisms cannot easily breakdown the lignin structure.

#### 5.1.2 pH

pH has been reported as one of the most important parameters in AD (Mata-Alvarez *et al.*, 1992). Whenever the pH is below 6.5 or above 8, the CH<sub>4</sub> forming microorganisms are inhibited. The low pH results observed are in agreement with previous study conducted by Bouallagui *et al.* (2005) who reported low pH in FW ranging between 3.5 -4.2. After the AD process, the pH increased slightly towards alkalinity in most treatments containing the inoculum. The alkalinity of CD probably neutralized the pH, hence increasing the buffering capacity. This was an indication of process stability during AD. However, the pH values of the digested fruit wastes were still below the range required for AD. A logical explanation is that the mixture of fruit waste used was mainly lemon, which is known to be acidic in nature. Perhaps the acid accumulated and inhibited the growth of methanogens which led to a reduction in the pH level.

#### 5.1.3 Batch methane production

The CH<sub>4</sub> yield relies mostly on waste composition (protein, carbohydrates and lipid) and reactor design (Bouallagui *et al.*, 2009). The range of CH<sub>4</sub> yields obtained from tomatoes and MFW is comparable with those obtained in studies conducted by Gunaseelan. (2004) and Bouallagui *et al.* (2005). A well-balanced mixture of fruit and vegetable wastes is ideal, since it reduces the chances of sugar accumulation (Scano *et al.*, 2014). The lowest CH<sub>4</sub> production was obtained from fruit and potato peel wastes indicating the occurrence of inhibition. Fruits contain high sugar content that results in rapid hydrolyses and acidification, which in turn increase the CO<sub>2</sub> and reduce the CH<sub>4</sub> content during AD (Scano *et al.*, 2014). Only CO<sub>2</sub> was produced in the controls which indicates that FW do not contain the microorganisms necessary to initiate methanogenesis. The CH<sub>4</sub> yield could also be affected by the C/N ratio. For instance, low cellulose content and C/N ratio associated with FW can accelerate the release of ammonia in large quantities. The vegetables, tomatoes, mixed food waste, CD and fruits had low C/N ratio ranging between 12-19, and potato peels had C/N ratio of 27 (Table 4.2 ). This is in line with the findings reported by Kumar *et al.*(2010) who obtained a C/N ratio ranging between 13.9-19.6 from composting of food wastes and green wastes.

## 5.2 Biogas production in semi-continuous mode

Elevated CH<sub>4</sub> yields are most important for economic efficiency of the process (Lauterböck *et al.*, 2014). Based on the results of the batch experiments, no significant differences were observed between the highest CH<sub>4</sub> producers in CD, MFW, vegetables and tomatoes. Mixed food waste was selected because of the variety or mixture of wastes they contained and was selected CD for its potential to maintain the buffering capacity that favours the growth of methanogens. The semi-continuous digestion occurred in a 20L digester.

## 5.2.1 Mono and co-digestion of food waste and cow dung

The pH profile results showed a slight decrease at the initial stage. This was expected to happen at the beginning of the process (hydrolysis) when substrates are broken down to produce fatty acids and the microorganisms are still in the lag phase adapting to the environment. The pH began to increase within the optimum range required for AD and CH<sub>4</sub> yield started to increase due to the exponential growth of methanogens in CO and CD experiments. Macias-Corral *et al.* (2008) reported similar results. In their experiment, the pH initially dropped rapidly during hydrolysis, but increased again when the fatty acids were utilised by the methanogens during CH<sub>4</sub> production. The increase in pH could be attributed to the degradation of proteins contained in CD (Nurliyana *et al.*, 2015). Cow dung contains nitrogen, trace elements and has also been reported to maintain the stability of the process (Mata-Alvarez *et al.*, 2000; Manyi-Loh *et al.*, 2015). Accumulation of VFAs in large amounts might have caused the decrease in pH recorded in MFW. Mixed food waste also contain carbohydrates that undergo rapid decomposition which create greater chances of inhibition (Table 4.1). The study conducted by Zhang *et al.* (2014) stated that inhibition always occurs when food waste is digested alone. These findings are in agreement with those reported by Zhang *et al.* (2012) at two selected loading rates. Anaerobic microorganisms especially methanogens are known not to survive in a highly acidic environment (Ali Shah *et al.*, 2014).

The digestion of single substrates is usually challenging owing to imbalance of nutrients, poor buffering capacity and a low pH substrate (Demirel and Scherer, 2008). Compared with the work of Macias-Corral *et al.* (2008), the CD results of the present study showed low CH<sub>4</sub> production. Whereas, a study by Abukar and Nasir (2012) reported 47% CH<sub>4</sub> yield which is lower than the results found in this study. This may be attributed to factors such as the environment, type of cattle feed and composition of the substrates (Leung and Wang, 2016).

To deal with the challenges of mono-digestion, several authors reported optimal biogas production with CO (Iyagba *et al.*, 2009; Khalid *et al.*, 2011; Gashaw and Teshita, 2014; Wang *et al.*, 2014; Sebola *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, Molinuevo-Salces *et al.* (2013) reported the addition of vegetable processing codigested with animal waste has improved CH<sub>4</sub> yield with a balanced C/N ratio. This may be linked to balanced C/N ratio in a mixture of more than one substrate thus reducing the concentration of inhibitory products (Mshandete *et al.*, 2004; Molinuevo-Salces *et al.*, 2013). The CO of MFW with CD is therefore an effective approach to improve CH<sub>4</sub> production in the AD process.

#### 5.3 Methane yield, pH and microbiology of the AD process

## 5.3.1 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE)

Molecular techniques to monitor the microbial community have been developed and they provide an opportunity to link the microbial community structure and parameters in the AD process (Akarsubasi *et al.*, 2005). Microbial communities involved in the AD process of organic waste are affected by changes in the environmental conditions. These community shifts also influence biogas yield and composition. Therefore, it is important to relate the microbial community to the AD process as this will help to optimise the digester operation (Nettmann *et al.*, 2008). The PCR-DGGE results revealed higher diversity in CO which was confirmed with H' and 1/D indices. This observation agrees with previous studies that have shown great abundance and diversity of microbes when AD residues combined with chicken and pig manure are co-digested compared to mono-digestion (Song *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, the higher the number of substrates, the higher the microbial diversity (Song *et al.*, 2014).

The increase in bacterial abundance and diversity were observed over time in CO (lanes 9-12). It is likely that the conditions were sufficient to promote microbial growth (Su *et al.*, 2015). Similar interpretations of the PCR-DGGE results were provided by Ye *et al.* (2007) and Shin *et al* (2010). The community shift may also be associated with the CH<sub>4</sub> yield and intermediate products produced during acidogenesis (Lin *et al.*, 2012). The CH<sub>4</sub> yield in all digesters treating different substrates varied, which can be linked to the microbial communities that were present at each stage (Tale *et al.*, 2011).

The study conducted by Ye *et al.* (2007) compared the DGGE banding pattern at different pH levels. They found that the banding patterns were much more similar although well-separated at pH 4-6 than in pH 7. In this study, similar patterns of bacterial DGGE bands were severally observed with mono-digestion of CD which was within the range of pH 6.5-7. This resulted in smearing of bands. Such smearing of bands in CD was not observed in MFW with low pH. The smear observed might be due to different bacterial species present in large quantities in the sample (elevated bacterial diversity). Cow dung also has a rich microbial diversity and contains many bacterial species (Randhawa and Kullar, 2011). The changes in microbial diversity were brought about primarily by changes in pH. A study conducted by Horiuchi *et al.* (2002) stated

that pH affects the microbial growth which may cause a community shift. Bouallagui *et al.* (2004) studied the microbial diversity in a two-stage AD of FVWs and found that the community changed due to acid inhibition.

Furthermore, the archaeal banding patterns in all treatments were less diverse compared to those of bacteria. Smaller archaeal diversity was also reported by Shin *et al.* (2010) and there is a relatively low diversity of archaea in most microbial complexes (Curtis and Sloan, 2004). It was evidenced that the banding and intensity of many bands in archaea did not change. This means that the archaeal community shift was minor (Ye *et al.*, 2007). The inability to link CH<sub>4</sub> production and archaeal diversity in this study may be attributed to the low number of archaea with CH<sub>4</sub> producing potential in MFW.

# 5.3.2 Microbial community analysis during semi-continuous digestion

The alpha diversity analyses in terms of the Chao1 and Shannon indices showed greater diversity when the CH<sub>4</sub> production was in an intermediate range (26-45%) in CD, MFW and CO in that order. A higher microbial diversity enhances the stability of the process, especially during changes of environmental conditions (Wrighton *et al.*, 2008). However, microbial diversity is not key in developing a functionally successful AD process but the structure or functionality of the community is more important (Li *et al.*, 2015).

Results from the high-throughput sequence analyses further revealed that the *Bacteroidetes*, *Firmucutes*, *Actinobacteria* and *Proteobacteia* phyla were ubiquitous in all reactors. This observation agrees with previous studies that reported the abundance of the phyla *Bacteroidetes*, *Firmucutes* and *Proteobacteia* (Wan *et al.*, 2013; Wang *et al.*, 2014; Guo *et al.*, 2015; Wang *et al.*, 2017). The abundance of *Firmucutes* in CD and MFW may be due to the cellulose content of these substrates (Table 4.1). *Firmucutes* play a very important role in the degradation of cellulosic material (Garcia-Peña *et al.*, 2011; Hanreich *et al.*, 2013) and produce H<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and VFAs. The majority of bacteria belonging to *Bacteroidetes* are known to produce lytic enzymes and acetic acid (Riviere *et al.*, 2009). Ariesyady *et al.* (2007) reported that bacteria belonging to the phylum *Proteobacteria* use glucose, acetate and propionate. *Proteobacteria* phylum was evident in all categories of MFW (L-3.32%, I-3.55%, H-8.15%, H-10.82%) in elevated numbers because bacteria belonging to this phylum can survive in acidic

environments. The abundance of *Bacteroidia* and *Clostridia* in the AD process was previously reported by Wang *et al.* (2014) and Lee *et al.* (2017) agrees with the results achieved in this study. The contribution of *Bacteroidetes* might be associated with acetic acid production for syntrophic bacteria and utilisation of organic matter (Ros *et al.*, 2017). *Clostridia* is a gram positive, strict anaerobe known to play a very important role in the initial stage of the AD process (Ziganshin *et al.*, 2013). Bacteria from the order *Clostridiales* also help in the digestion of recalcitrant cellulose and most importantly support acetogens and methanogens with nutrients needed for their growth (Ziganshin *et al.*, 2013). The predominance of *clostridia* in the AD process was previously associated with VFA fermentation (Guo *et al.*, 2015). Most of the *Syntrophomonas* members were present in large quantities in CO in comparison with other treatments. Members of *Syntrophomonas* genus are strict anaerobes that breakdown long chain of organic acids to form acetate and propionate (Zhao *et al.*, 1993) and also have the ability to enhance VFA consumption (Zhang *et al.*, 2017).

A study conducted by Nelson *et al.* (2011) found that the majority of archaea belonging to *Euryarchaeota*, *Methanosaeta* and *Methanosarcina* were predominant CH<sub>4</sub> producers (Patil *et al.*, 2010). These species of these taxa were found in abundance in CO which can be linked to the highest CH<sub>4</sub> production observed and neutral pH. The major microbial communities in AD are prone to change in diverse conditions because microorganisms have different adaptabilities (Li *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, the increased CH<sub>4</sub> production could be attributed to the partial shift from *Methanosaeta* to *Methanosarcina* and *Methanobacterium* and from *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroidetes* in bacterial communities observed in CO AD trials (Mu *et al.*, 2017). A High concentration of acetic acid may have influenced the archaeal abundance shift from *Methanosarcina* to *Methanosaeta* species.

Species from *Methanosarcina* prefer methylated compounds for CH<sub>4</sub> production (Shin *et al.*, 2010) and these species can also tolerate high VFA concentrations compared to *Methanosaeta* (Demirel and Scherer, 2008). *Methanosarcina* generate CH<sub>4</sub> via three different metabolic pathways using CO<sub>2</sub> or hydrogen and acetate (Galagan *et al.*, 2002). In their study, Mu *et al.* (2017) analysed the microbial characteristics and AD performance using potato and cabbage wastes as substrates. They found that *Methanobacterium* and *Methanosarcina* were responsible for high CH<sub>4</sub> production in CO of the two substrates. Furthermore, similar to the outcome of

this study, the methanogenic archaea were previously reported to be abundant in stable AD processes (Cardinali-Rezende *et al.*, 2009). *Methanobrevibacter* was present in abundance among other hydrogenotrophic methanogens in CD and MFW. The *Methanobrevibacter* population reached 81% in mixed food waste (MFW-H) when 42% CH<sub>4</sub> production was recorded. *Methanobrevibacter* species are naturally found in the rumen of ruminants and participate in CH<sub>4</sub> production (Resende *et al.*, 2016). The high percentage of these species in MFW might be due to the addition of the CD inoculum at the beginning of the process. It further confirms that the adaptation of these microorganisms was successful when the MFW was mixed with inoculum.

However, it seems that when the CH<sub>4</sub> production was low (MFW-L), the Firmucutes outcompeted the Bacteroidetes. The bacteria belonging to the phylum Firmucutes are known to degrade various substrates and produce VFAs (Garcia-Peña et al., 2011). High concentration of VFAs can inhibit the growth or may even cause the death of certain methanogens. These findings are consistent with the results of Ros et al. (2017), who reported on the microbial community structure during CH<sub>4</sub> production using pig slurry and FVW. In stressed conditions such as high VFAs concentrations, most methanogens undergo hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (Schnürer et al., 1999). In addition, the decrease of CH<sub>4</sub> production was closely related to the disappearance of acetoclastic methanogens which are more sensitive than hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Palatsi et al., 2010). Furthermore, Methanosaeta methanogens were not detected when the CH<sub>4</sub> production was low, intermediate and high (MFW-I, MFW-H and CD-L, CD-H). The absence of Methanosaeta has been reported when high ammonia concentrations occur (Karakashev et al., 2005). In contrast, the growth rate of acetoclastic methanogens is affected even when the concentration of the ammonia is low (Angelidaki and Ahring, 1993). This is why when there is inhibition, the hydrogenotrophic methanogens are predominant (Lauterböck et al., 2014).

Species of genera such as *Methanospirillum* and *Methanoculleus* are hydrogenotrophic CH<sub>4</sub> producers. This group of organisms produces CH<sub>4</sub> gas via the reduction of hydrogen and CO<sub>2</sub> (Jain *et al.*, 2015). It has been observed that a lower CH<sub>4</sub> content is generated from hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis than from acetotrophic methanogenesis which can generate up to 70% of CH<sub>4</sub> (Čater *et al.*, 2013; Jain *et al.*, 2015). The high-throughput sequence results

show that the methanogenesis stage was carried out mainly by acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic methanogens throughout the process. As previously mentioned, methanogens are inhibited in an acidic environment as compared to when the pH is neutral (6.5-7.5). Therefore, there is an interrelationship between the process parameters (pH), CH<sub>4</sub> and the microbial communities.

## 5.4 Potential plant growth promoting attributes of bacterial isolates

Utilisation of the digestate material as a source of nutrients for plants is important as it contributes to the sustainability of the AD process. However, the digestate may contain pathogens and heavy metals that might have negative effects on humans and crop yield during application. This aspect of the study was aimed at evaluating the suitability of the digestate as an organic soil amendment in comparison to the untreated substrate currently being used as feedstock for AD i.e. CD.

Decreases in the values of TS, VS, potassium and phosphorus content were evidenced in the digestate in comparison with the dung samples. Elevated levels of dry matter and volatile solids in the dung compared to the digestate were expected because the anaerobic bacteria utilise organic matter during the AD process for biogas production (Möller and Müller, 2012). However, in the present study, the  $NH_4^+$  content increased after AD. This increase may be attributed to the conversion of organic nitrogen to ammonium in the course of AD, which is advantageous if the digestate is intended for use as a fertilizer, because nitrogen mineralisation ensures that nitrogen is available in a plant-accessible form. Similar results were obtained by Gómez-Brandón *et al.* (2016), who reports a higher ammonium content in digestate than in manure. Elevated ammonium levels in the digestate could also be attributed to mineralisation of nitrogen compounds in the substrate (Gómez-Brandón *et al.*, 2016).

The AD process is carried out by microbial communities that are sensitive to pH fluctuations. According to Chen *et al.* (2010), anaerobic bacteria prefer a pH range of between 6.5 and 7.5 for optimal biogas production. The pH before and after the AD process did not vary (P>0.05), as shown in Table 1. Previous studies (Lukehurst *et al.*, 2010; Alburquerque *et al.*, 2012b; Astals et *al.* 2012) have established that the type of substrate used in biogas production influences the nutrient composition and quality of the digestate. The substrate used in this study

contained the macronutrients required by anaerobic bacteria. In their study, Singh *et al.* (2010) report a lower C/N ratio in the digestate than in untreated dung, which is similar to the results of the present study. A decrease in the C/N ratio after AD was expected owing to the breakdown of organic matter and the accumulation of inorganic nitrogen sources. However, the C/N ratio of the feedstock (cow dung) in the present study was higher than that reported by Kataki *et al.* (2017). An elevated feedstock C/N ratio may be detrimental because of the risk of nitrogen limitation for microbial growth, but a low C/N ratio may impede biogas production as a result of ammonia inhibition (Igoni *et al.*, 2008; Rajagopal *et al.*, 2013). The elevated C/N ratio of the place where the cattle were raised, the type of cattle (dairy or beef) and the cattle feed.

The AD process also resulted in a reduction in the heavy metal content, which is beneficial to the environment if the digestate is intended for use as a fertiliser. Numerous heavy metals such as manganese, copper, nickel, zinc, chromium and cadmium are toxic to the environment when present in high concentrations (Meena *et al.*, 2008). Heavy metal pollution poses significant environmental threats to the entire ecosystem. The bio-magnification of heavy metals along the food chain may exacerbate the associated risks (Yi *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, heavy metal accumulation has the ability to damage plants as it might affect the growth and metabolism of plant cells (Madu *et al.*, 2011).

More isolates were obtained from the feedstock (dung) than from the digestate. This may be attributed to the environmental pressures imposed by the AD process. Some microorganisms in the feedstock (dung) were unable to survive the unfavourable AD conditions. The identification of isolates showed that the dung had a greater culturable microbial diversity than the digestate. However, genera such as *Escherichia* and *Staphylococcus* were obtained from the dung. Some of the species of these genera are known to be pathogenic. As reviewed by Carbone *et al.* (2002), the faeces of animals contain *E. coli*, a pathogen that naturally occurs in the intestinal tract. Therefore, the use of untreated manure as a fertiliser poses higher risks of environmental pollution than the digestate (Insam *et al.*, 2015; Adesemoye and Kloepper 2009).

The isolates were further evaluated for their ability to enhance soil fertility. All isolates from the dung and the digestate had one or more soil-enhancing attributes. However, IAA production and the ability to solubilise phosphate were elevated in most of the isolates in comparison with the ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen. As mentioned before, the quality of the digestate depends on the type of substrate used (Mata-Alvarez *et al.*, 2000). In this study, shared genera were obtained from both the dung and the digestate. However, *Acinetobacter* was found to be the most prominent genus in both the dung and the digestate. A study carried out by Gulati *et al.* (2010) shows that *Acinetobacter* is an efficient phosphate solubiliser. The availability of PGPB in the digestate is advantageous because *Acinetobacter* organisms enhance plant growth in a more environmentally friendly way than chemical fertilisers do. A longer-term study comparing the yield of barley fertilised with digestate and barley fertilised with compost, as reported by Odlare *et al.* (2011), found digestate gave a higher yield. Therefore, apart from making certain nutrients available to the plant, the presence of PGPB in digestate will also assist in plant nutrient uptake.

# 6.1 Conclusions

This study has provided more insights into microbial diversity and CH<sub>4</sub> production during the AD process using CD and MFW. The CH<sub>4</sub> production depends on the composition of the substrate used. Overall findings from semi-continuous AD showed that CD is a good feedstock for biogas production due to the presence of rumen microorganisms that play an important role in AD and the buffering capacity of CD. However, the use of MFW as a single substrate for biogas production is challenging due to accumulation of VFAs. Hence, CO of CD and MFW is ideal for reducing the waste in large quantity, production of high CH<sub>4</sub> content due to a balanced C/N ratio and less chance of facing inhibition.

The PCR-DGGE results showed higher diversity in CO as compared to mono-digestion of CD and MFW. The high-throughput sequence analyses revealed that the OTUs belonging to the phyla *Bacteroidetes* followed by *Firmicutes, Actinobacteria* and *Proteobacteria* were dominant in all treatments. The *Bacteroidia* followed by *Clostridia* were the major classes identified under phyla *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes*. Highest CH<sub>4</sub> production in CO was because of the presence of methanogens (*Methanosaeta* and *Methanosarcina*).

In the plant growth promotion experiment, both CD and the digestate contained cultivable microbial communities with one or more soil fertility enhancing attributes. However, the dung might contain pathogenic microorganisms that can damage plants and cause diseases in humans. The AD process resulted in the reduction of heavy metal contents and some of the potentially pathogenic bacteria in CD. Furthermore, the AD process resulted in the mineralisation of organic N enabling the presence of plant-available N in the digestate. Hence, the quality of reported digestate in this study indicates that it could be used as a potential fertiliser.

## 6.2 Recommendations and future work

The CH<sub>4</sub> production in MFW fluctuated throughout the process and low CH<sub>4</sub> was recorded towards the end of the process. Less feeding to avoid acid accumulation is therefore recommended. It is also advisable to use a well-balanced mixture of fruit and vegetable waste with food sources that are rich in proteins and fats. Future studies could investigate the use of two-stage digesters that separate the hydrolysis and acidogenesis steps, which might reduce the chances of microbe inhibition occurring.

It is also recommended that studies be conducted on appropriate growth media that could be used to culture and isolate uncultured microorganisms. Such studies could provide better insight into the AD process, because many uncultured microorganisms were obtained from the high-throughput sequencing data. Further investigation is also required into the operating parameters that affect the microbial community during AD, for instance the mechanisms of ammonia inhibition and VFAs concentration. The bio-augmentation method (addition of specific microbes known to improve the AD performance) could be tested to increase CH<sub>4</sub> production and stabilise the digestion process.

The digestate contained plant-growth-promoting bacteria, lower heavy-metal content and nutrients needed by plants. Smallholder farmers should use the digestate as a fertiliser in order to increase crop yields and reduce the cost of buying chemical fertilisers. It is recommended that future studies examine the effects of long-term fertilisation with digestate on soil quality and soil microbial biomass. There is a need for further investigation into molecular techniques to identify genes responsible for phosphate solubilisation and nitrogen fixation, and into indole acetic acid assays from the digestate.

- Abdoun, E. and Weiland, P., 2009. Optimization of monofermentation from renewable raw materials by the addition of trace elements. *Bornimer Agrartechnische Berichte*, *68*, pp.69-78.
- Abubakar, B.S.U.I. and Ismail, N., 2012. Anaerobic digestion of cow dung for biogas production. *ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 7(2), pp.169-172.
- Adelekan, B.A. and Adelekan, I.O., 2004. Health Implications of Household Energy Use in Selected Nigerian Towns. *Nigerian Journal of Renewable Energy*, pp.138-146.
- Adelekan, B.A. and Bamgboye, A.I., 2009. Comparison of biogas productivity of cassava peels mixed in selected ratios with major livestock waste types. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 4(7), pp.571-577.
- Adeleke, R., Cloete, T.E., Bertrand, A. and Khasa, D.P., 2015. Relationship between plant growth and organic acid exudates from ectomycorrhizal and non-ectomycorrhizal Pinus patula. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil*, 32(4), pp.183-188.
- Agama biogas., 2009. Sustainable Cities: Biogas Energy from Waste, A Feasibility Study and Guidelines for Implementing Biogas from Waste Projects in Municipalities. Cape Town.
- Agama energy pty, 2008. Biofuels in the City of Cape Town: Energy from Waste. Prepared for UNDP/CCT/SI.
- Ahmad, A., Buang, A. and Bhat, A.H., 2016. Renewable and sustainable bioenergy production from microalgal co-cultivation with palm oil mill effluent (POME): A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 65, pp.214-234.

- Ahring, B.K., Ibrahim, A.A. and Mladenovska, Z., 2001. Effect of temperature increase from 55 to 65 C on performance and microbial population dynamics of an anaerobic reactor treating cattle manure. *Water Research*, 35(10), pp.2446-2452.
- Akarsubasi, A.T., Ince, O., Kirdar, B., Oz, N.A., Orhon, D., Curtis, T.P., Head, I.M. and Ince, B.K., 2005. Effect of wastewater composition on archaeal population diversity. *Water Research*, 39(8), pp.1576-1584.
- Akuzawa, M., Hori, T., Haruta, S., Ueno, Y., Ishii, M. and Igarashi, Y., 2011. Distinctive responses of metabolically active microbiota to acidification in a thermophilic anaerobic digester. *Microbial Ecology*, 61(3), pp.595-605.
- Al Seadi, T., Rutz, D., Prassl, H., Köttner, M., Finsterwalder, T., Volk, S. and Janssen, R., 2008. Biogas handbook Esbjerg. *Denmark, October*.
- Alburquerque, J.A., de la Fuente, C. and Bernal, M.P., 2012a. Chemical properties of anaerobic digestates affecting C and N dynamics in amended soils. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 160*, pp.15-22.
- Alburquerque, J.A., de la Fuente, C., Ferrer-Costa, A., Carrasco, L., Cegarra, J., Abad, M. and Bernal, M.P., 2012b. Assessment of the fertiliser potential of digestates from farm and agroindustrial residues. *Biomass and Bioenergy*,40, pp.181-189.
- Alfa, M.I., Adie, D.B., Igboro, S.B., Oranusi, U.S., Dahunsi, S.O. and Akali, D.M., 2014. Assessment of biofertilizer quality and health implications of anaerobic digestion effluent of cow dung and chicken droppings. *Renewable Energy*, 63, pp.681-686.
- Ali Shah, F., Mahmood, Q., Maroof Shah, M., Pervez, A. and Ahmad Asad, S., 2014. Microbial ecology of anaerobic digesters: the key players of anaerobiosis. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014.

- Amani, T., Nosrati, M. and Sreekrishnan, T.R., 2010. Anaerobic digestion from the viewpoint of microbiological, chemical, and operational aspects—a review. *Environmental Reviews*, 18(NA), pp.255-278.
- Amigun, B. and von Blottnitz, H., 2007. Investigation of scale economies for African biogas installations. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 48(12), pp.3090-3094.
- Amigun, B. and Von Blottnitz, H., 2010. Capacity-cost and location-cost analyses for biogas plants in Africa. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, *55*(1), pp.63-73.
- Amigun, B., Aboyade, A.O., Badmos, A.S., Musango, J.K. and Parawira, W., 2012. *Anaerobic biogas generation for rural area energy provision in Africa*. INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- Angelidaki, I. and Ahring, B.K., 1993. Thermophilic anaerobic digestion of livestock waste: the effect of ammonia. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *38*(4), pp.560-564.
- Angelidaki, I., Alves, M., Bolzonella, D., Borzacconi, L., Campos, J.L., Guwy, A.J., Kalyuzhnyi, S., Jenicek, P. and Van Lier, J.B., 2009. Defining the biomethane potential (BMP) of solid organic wastes and energy crops: a proposed protocol for batch assays. *Water Science and Technology*, 59(5), pp.927-934.
- Appels, L., Lauwers, J., Degrève, J., Helsen, L., Lievens, B., Willems, K., Van Impe, J. and Dewil, R.,
   2011. Anaerobic digestion in global bio-energy production: potential and research challenges.
   *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 15(9), pp.4295-4301.
- Appels, L., Van Assche, A., Willems, K., Degrève, J., Van Impe, J. and Dewil, R., 2011. Peracetic acid oxidation as an alternative pre-treatment for the anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge. *Bioresource Technology*, 102(5), pp.4124-4130.

- Ariesyady, H.D., Ito, T. and Okabe, S., 2007. Functional bacterial and archaeal community structures of major trophic groups in a full-scale anaerobic sludge digester. *Water Research*, 41(7), pp.1554-1568.
- Asikong Bassey, E., James, E., Agbo Bassey, E., Antai, E.E. and Eja Matthew, E., 2013. Four potentials of biogas yield from cow dung-CD. *European Journal of Experimental Biology*, *3*(3), pp.273-282.
- Astals, S., Nolla-Ardèvol, V. and Mata-Alvarez, J., 2012. Anaerobic co-digestion of pig manure and crude glycerol at mesophilic conditions: Biogas and digestate. *Bioresource Technology*, *110*, pp.63-70.
- Behera, S.K., Park, J.M., Kim, K.H. and Park, H.S., 2010. Methane production from food waste leachate in laboratory-scale simulated landfill. *Waste Management*, *30*(8), pp.1502-1508.
- Bello-Akinosho, M., Makofane, R., Adeleke, R., Thantsha, M., Pillay, M. and Chirima, G.J., 2016. Potential of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-degrading bacterial isolates to contribute to soil fertility. *BioMed Research International*, 2016.
- Bhawalkar, U.S., 1996. Vermiculture ecotechnology. Bhawalkar Earthworm Research Institute.

Bio2Watt.,2014. http://www.bio2watt.com/projects.

- Bond, T. and Templeton, M.R., 2011. History and future of domestic biogas plants in the developing world. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, *15*(4), pp.347-354.
- Bouallagui, H., Cheikh, R.B., Marouani, L. and Hamdi, M., 2003. Mesophilic biogas production from fruit and vegetable waste in a tubular digester. *Bioresource Technology*, *86*(1), pp.85-89.

Bouallagui, H., Touhami, Y., Cheikh, R.B. and Hamdi, M., 2005. Bioreactor performance in anaerobic digestion of fruit and vegetable wastes. *Process Biochemistry*, 40(3), pp.989-995.

BP, Statistical Review of World Energy, Excel workbook of historical data, 2014.

- Bric, J.M., Bostock, R.M. and Silverstone, S.E., 1991. Rapid in situ assay for indoleacetic acid production by bacteria immobilized on a nitrocellulose membrane. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 57(2), pp.535-538.
- Brown, V.J., 2006. Biogas: a bright idea for Africa. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 114(5), p.A300.
- Callaghan, F.J., Wase, D.A.J., Thayanithy, K. and Forster, C.F., 2002. Continuous co-digestion of cattle slurry with fruit and vegetable wastes and chicken manure. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 22(1), pp.71-77.
- Caporaso, J.G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F.D., Costello, E.K., Fierer, N., Peña, A.G., Goodrich, J.K., Gordon, J.I. and Huttley, G.A., 2010. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nature Methods*, 7(5), pp.335-336.
- Caporaso, J.G., Lauber, C.L., Walters, W.A., Berg-Lyons, D., Huntley, J., Fierer, N., Owens, S.M., Betley, J., Fraser, L., Bauer, M. and Gormley, N., 2012. Ultra-high-throughput microbial community analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq platforms. *The ISME Journal*, 6(8), pp.1621-1624.
- Carballa, M., Smits, M., Etchebehere, C., Boon, N. and Verstraete, W., 2011. Correlations between molecular and operational parameters in continuous lab-scale anaerobic reactors. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 89(2), pp.303-314.

- Carbone, S.R., Da Silva, F.M., Tavares, C.R.G. and Dias Filho, B.P., 2002. Bacterial population of a two-phase anaerobic digestion process treating effluent of cassava starch factory. *Environmental Technology*, 23(5), pp.591-597.
- Čater, M., Fanedl, L. and Logar, R.M., 2013. Microbial community analyses in biogas reactors by molecular methods. *Acta Chimica Slovenica*, 60(2), pp.243-255.
- Chen, R., Roos, M.M., Zhong, Y., Marsh, T., Roman, M.B., Ascencio, W.H., Uribe, L., Lorio, L.U., Kirk, D., Reinhold, D.M. and Chavarria, J.A.M., 2016. Responses of anaerobic microorganisms to different culture conditions and corresponding effects on biogas production and solid digestate quality. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 85, pp.84-93.
- Chen, X., Romano, R.T. and Zhang, R., 2010. Anaerobic digestion of food wastes for biogas production. *International Journal of Agricultural and Biological Engineering*, 3(4), pp.61-72.
- Cioabla, A.E., Ionel, I., Dumitrel, G.A. and Popescu, F., 2012. Comparative study on factors affecting anaerobic digestion of agricultural vegetal residues. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, *5*(1), p.1.
- Claesson, M.J., Jeffery, I.B., Conde, S., Power, S.E., O'connor, E.M., Cusack, S., Harris, H.M., Coakley, M., Lakshminarayanan, B., O'sullivan, O. and Fitzgerald, G.F., 2012. Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly. *Nature*, 492(7427), p.178.
- Clancy, J.S., Skutsch, M. and Batchelor, S., 2003. The Gender-Energy-Poverty Nexus: Finding the energy to address gender concerns in development. *DFID project CNTR998521*.
- Comparetti, A., Febo, P., Greco, C. and Orlando, S., 2013. Current state and future of biogas and digestate production. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*, *19*(1), pp.1-14.
- Curry, N. and Pillay, P., 2012. Biogas prediction and design of a food waste to energy system for the urban environment. *Renewable Energy*, *41*, pp.200-209.

- Curtis, T.P. and Sloan, W.T., 2004. Prokaryotic diversity and its limits: microbial community structure in nature and implications for microbial ecology. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 7(3), pp.221-226.
- Da Silva IS., 2013. South Africa's biogas market potential worth R10-bn. Moon of the South News from Africa: http://moonofthesouth.com/south-africas-bio gas-market/> [Accessed 11/8/2016].
- De Vries, B.J., Van Vuuren, D.P. and Hoogwijk, M.M., 2007. Renewable energy sources: Their global potential for the first-half of the 21st century at a global level: An integrated approach. *Energy Policy*, *35*(4), pp.2590-2610.
- Demirel, B. and Scherer, P., 2008. The roles of acetotrophic and hydrogenotrophic methanogens during anaerobic conversion of biomass to methane: a review. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, 7(2), pp.173-190.
- Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF)., 2012. Fertilizers, farm feeds, agricultural remedies and stock remedies act (ACT No.36 of 1947). DAAF, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA)., 2012. "National Waste Information Baseline Report, "Department of Environmental Affairs, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA)., 2013.GHG inventory for South Africa 2000-2010, DEA, Pretoria.
- Deublein, D. and Steinhauser, A., 2011. *Biogas from waste and renewable resources: an introduction*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Deublein, D., Steinhauser, A., 2008. Biogas from waste and renewable resources. Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH& Co. KGaA.

- Dilly, O., Bloem, J., Vos, A. and Munch, J.C., 2004. Bacterial diversity in agricultural soils during litter decomposition. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *70*(1), pp.468-474.
- El-Mashad, H.M. and Zhang, R., 2010. Biogas production from co-digestion of dairy manure and food waste. *Bioresource Technology*, *101*(11), pp.4021-4028.
- ESKOM., 2013. Eskom Annual Report. Eskom Limited.
- Ezeokoli, O.T., Gupta, A.K., Mienie, C., Popoola, T.O. and Bezuidenhout, C.C., 2016. PCR-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of microbial community in soy-daddawa, a Nigerian fermented soybean (Glycine max (L.) Merr.) condiment. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 220, pp.58-62.
- Ezzati, M., 2005. Indoor air pollution and health in developing countries. *The Lancet*, 366(9480), pp.104-106.
- Fachverband Biogas e. V., 2011. Biogas Can Do It, Berlin: Fachverband Biogas e. V.
- FAO., 1996. "Biogas Technology: A Training Manual for Extension," Consolidated Management Services Nepal (P) Ltd., Nepal, India.
- Ferrer, I., Gamiz, M., Almeida, M. and Ruiz, A., 2009. Pilot project of biogas production from pig manure and urine mixture at ambient temperature in Ventanilla (Lima, Peru). Waste Management, 29(1), pp.168-173.
- Franke-Whittle, I.H., Confalonieri, A., Insam, H., Schlegelmilch, M. and Körner, I., 2014. Changes in the microbial communities during co-composting of digestates. *Waste Management*, 34(3), pp.632-641.

- Franke-Whittle, I.H., Walter, A., Ebner, C. and Insam, H., 2014. Investigation into the effect of high concentrations of volatile fatty acids in anaerobic digestion on methanogenic communities. *Waste Management*, 34(11), pp.2080-2089.
- Galagan, J.E., Nusbaum, C., Roy, A., Endrizzi, M.G., Macdonald, P., FitzHugh, W., Calvo, S., Engels,
  R., Smirnov, S., Atnoor, D. and Brown, A., 2002. The genome of M. acetivorans reveals extensive metabolic and physiological diversity. *Genome Research*, 12(4), pp.532-542.
- Garcia-Peña, E.I., Parameswaran, P., Kang, D.W., Canul-Chan, M. and Krajmalnik-Brown, R., 2011. Anaerobic digestion and co-digestion processes of vegetable and fruit residues: process and microbial ecology. *Bioresource Technology*, 102(20), pp.9447-9455.
- Gashaw, A. and Teshita, A., 2014. Co-Digestion of Ethiopian Food Waste with Cow Dung for Biogas Production. *International Journal of Research*,1(7), pp.475-500.
- Gashaw, A., 2016. Co-digestion of municipal organic wastes with night soil and cow dung for biogas production: A Review. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 15(2), pp.32-44.
- Gashaw, A., Teshita, A. and Ethiopia, B.H., 2014. Co-digestion of Ethiopian food waste with cow dung for biogas production. *International Journal of Research* (IJR) Vol-1, Issue-7.

Gerardi, M.H., 2003. The microbiology of anaerobic digesters. John Wiley & Sons.

- Goering, H.K. and Van Soest, P.J., 1970. Forage fiber analyses (apparatus, reagents, preedures, and some applications). *USDA Agr Handb*.
- Gulati, A., Sharma, N., Vyas, P., Sood, S., Rahi, P., Pathania, V. and Prasad, R., 2010. Organic acid production and plant growth promotion as a function of phosphate solubilization by Acinetobacter rhizosphaerae strain BIHB 723 isolated from the cold deserts of the trans-Himalayas. Archives of Microbiology, 192(11), pp.975-983.

- Gumisiriza, R., Hawumba, J.F., Okure, M. and Hensel, O., 2017. Biomass waste-to-energy valorisation technologies: a review case for banana processing in Uganda. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 10(1), p.11.
- Gunaseelan, V.N., 2004. Biochemical methane potential of fruits and vegetable solid waste feedstocks. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 26(4), pp.389-399.
- Guo, J., Peng, Y., Ni, B.J., Han, X., Fan, L. and Yuan, Z., 2015. Dissecting microbial community structure and methane-producing pathways of a full-scale anaerobic reactor digesting activated sludge from wastewater treatment by metagenomic sequencing. *Microbial Cell Factories*, 14(1), p.33.
- Hanreich, A., Schimpf, U., Zakrzewski, M., Schlüter, A., Benndorf, D., Heyer, R., Rapp, E., Pühler, A., Reichl, U. and Klocke, M., 2013. Metagenome and metaproteome analyses of microbial communities in mesophilic biogas-producing anaerobic batch fermentations indicate concerted plant carbohydrate degradation. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, *36*(5), pp.330-338.
- Hartmann, H. and Ahring, B.K., 2006. Strategies for the anaerobic digestion of the organic fraction of municipal solid waste: an overview. *Water Science and Technology*, *53*(8), pp.7-22.
- He, P.J., 2010. Anaerobic digestion: an intriguing long history in China. *Waste Management* 30 (2010) 549–550.
- Higa, T., 1994. Effective Microorganisms: A new dimension for nature farming. In Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Kyusei Nature Farming. US Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC, USA (pp. 20-22).
- Horiuchi, J.I., Shimizu, T., Tada, K., Kanno, T. and Kobayashi, M., 2002. Selective production of organic acids in anaerobic acid reactor by pH control. *Bioresource Technology*, 82(3), pp.209-213.

- http://newsofthesouth.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/four-women-carrying-firewood.jpg [Accessed 14/2/2017].
- Ibrahim, M.H., Quaik, S. and Ismail, S.A., 2016. An Introduction to Anaerobic Digestion of Organic Wastes. In Prospects of Organic Waste Management and the Significance of Earthworms (pp. 23-44). Springer International Publishing.
- Igoni, A.H., Ayotamuno, M.J., Eze, C.L., Ogaji, S.O.T. and Probert, S.D., 2008. Designs of anaerobic digesters for producing biogas from municipal solid-waste. *Applied Energy*, 85(6), pp.430-438.
- Ingrid H. Franke-Whittle, Andreas Walter, Christian Ebner , Heribert Insam. Investigation into the effect of high concentrations of volatile fatty acids in anaerobic digestion on methanogenic communities. *Waste Management* 34 (2014) 2080–2089.

International energy Agency (IEA), 2009, World Energy Outlook 2009, Paris.

- International Energy Agency., 2014. Africa energy outlook: A focus on energy prospects in Sub-Saharan Africa. International Energy Agency.
- IRENA (2015a), Renewable Energy and Jobs Annual Review 2015, International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi, UAE.
- Islam, M.R., Rahman, S.M.E., Rahman, M.M., Oh, D.H. and Ra, C.S., 2010. The effects of biogas slurry on the production and quality of maize fodder. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 34(1), pp.91-99.
- Iyagba, E.T., Mangibo, I.A. and Mohammad, Y.S., 2009. The study of cow dung as co-substrate with rice husk in biogas production. *Scientific Research and Essay*, *4*(9), pp.861-866.

- Jain, S., Jain, S., Wolf, I.T., Lee, J. and Tong, Y.W., 2015. A comprehensive review on operating parameters and different pretreatment methodologies for anaerobic digestion of municipal solid waste. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 52, pp.142-154.
- Jeong, E., Kim, H.W., Nam, J.Y. and Shin, H.S., 2010. Enhancement of bioenergy production and effluent quality by integrating optimized acidification with submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor. *Bioresource Technology*, *101*(1), pp. S7-S12.
- Joyce, A., 2016. Investigation of microbial community structure and function underpinning grass and food waste anaerobic digestion (Doctoral dissertation). https://aran.library.nuigalway.ie/handle/10379/5989
- Karakashev, D., Batstone, D.J. and Angelidaki, I., 2005. Influence of environmental conditions on methanogenic compositions in anaerobic biogas reactors. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(1), pp.331-338.
- Karthikeyan, O.P. and Visvanathan, C., 2012. Effect of C/N ratio and ammonia-N accumulation in a pilot-scale thermophilic dry anaerobic digester. *Bioresource Technology*, *113*, pp.294-302.
- Khalid, A., Arshad, M., Anjum, M., Mahmood, T. and Dawson, L., 2011. The anaerobic digestion of solid organic waste. *Waste Management*, *31*(8), pp.1737-1744.
- Khoiyangbam, R.S., Gupta, N. and Kumar, S., 2011. *Biogas Technology: towards sustainable development*. The Energy and Resources Institute (TERI).
- Kim, D.H. and Oh, S.E., 2011. Continuous high-solids anaerobic co-digestion of organic solid wastes under mesophilic conditions. *Waste Management*, *31*(9), pp.1943-1948.
- Kirchmayr, R., Scherzer, R., Baggesen, D.L., Braum, R. and Wellinger, A., 2003. Animal by-products and anaerobic digestion. *Requirements of the European Regulation (EC) No 1774/2002.: IEA Bioenergy Task 37–Energy from Biogas and Landfill Gas.*

- Komemoto, K., Lim, Y.G., Nagao, N., Onoue, Y., Niwa, C. and Toda, T., 2009. Effect of temperature on VFA's and biogas production in anaerobic solubilization of food waste. *Waste Management*, 29(12), pp.2950-2955.
- Kondusamy, D. and Kalamdhad, A.S., 2014. Pre-treatment and anaerobic digestion of food waste for high rate methane production–A review. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 2(3), pp.1821-1830.
- Kothari, R., Pandey, A.K., Kumar, S., Tyagi, V.V. and Tyagi, S.K., 2014. Different aspects of dry anaerobic digestion for bio-energy: An overview. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *39*, pp.174-195.
- Kröber, M., Bekel, T., Diaz, N.N., Goesmann, A., Jaenicke, S., Krause, L., Miller, D., Runte, K.J., Viehöver, P., Pühler, A. and Schlüter, A., 2009. Phylogenetic characterization of a biogas plant microbial community integrating clone library 16S-rDNA sequences and metagenome sequence data obtained by 454-pyrosequencing. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 142(1), pp.38-49.
- Kumar, Sunil. BIOGAS. Rijeka, Croatia "Intech: Books." INTEC. 14 March 2012.
- LaPara, T.M., Nakatsu, C.H., Pantea, L. and Alleman, J.E., 2000. Phylogenetic analysis of bacterial communities in mesophilic and thermophilic bioreactors treating pharmaceutical wastewater. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *66*(9), pp.3951-3959.
- Lattieff, F.A., 2016. A study of biogas production from date palm fruit wastes. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 139, pp.1191-1195.
- Lauterböck, B., Nikolausz, M., Lv, Z., Baumgartner, M., Liebhard, G. and Fuchs, W., 2014. Improvement of anaerobic digestion performance by continuous nitrogen removal with a membrane contactor treating a substrate rich in ammonia and sulfide. *Bioresource Technology*, 158, pp.209-216.

- Lee, C., Kim, J., Hwang, K., O'Flaherty, V. and Hwang, S., 2009. Quantitative analysis of methanogenic community dynamics in three anaerobic batch digesters treating different wastewaters. *Water Research*, 43(1), pp.157-165.
- Lee, J., Kim, J.R., Jeong, S., Cho, J. and Kim, J.Y., 2017. Long-term performance of anaerobic digestion for crop residues containing heavy metals and response of microbial communities. *Waste Management*, 59, pp.498-507.
- Leung, D.Y. and Wang, J., 2016. An overview on biogas generation from anaerobic digestion of food waste. *International Journal of Green Energy*, *13*(2), pp.119-131.
- Li, A., Chu, Y.N., Wang, X., Ren, L., Yu, J., Liu, X., Yan, J., Zhang, L., Wu, S. and Li, S., 2013. A pyrosequencing-based metagenomic study of methane-producing microbial community in solid-state biogas reactor. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, *6*(1), p.3.
- Lin, J., Zuo, J., Gan, L., Li, P., Liu, F., Wang, K., Chen, L. and Gan, H., 2011. Effects of mixture ratio on anaerobic co-digestion with fruit and vegetable waste and food waste of China. Journal of *Environmental Sciences*, 23(8), pp.1403-1408.
- Lin, J., Zuo, J., Ji, R., Chen, X., Liu, F., Wang, K. and Yang, Y., 2012. Methanogenic community dynamics in anaerobic co-digestion of fruit and vegetable waste and food waste. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 24(7), pp.1288-1294.
- Lindmark, J., Thorin, E., Fdhila, R.B. and Dahlquist, E., 2014. Effects of mixing on the result of anaerobic digestion. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 40, pp.1030-1047.
- Lukehurst, C.T., Frost, P. and Al Seadi, T., 2010. Utilisation of digestate from biogas plants as biofertiliser. *IEA Bioenergy*, pp.1-36.

- Lusk, P.D., 1997. Anaerobic digestion and opportunities for international technology transfer.
   In Making a business from biomass in energy, environment, chemicals, fibers and materials:
   V. 2. Proceedings.
- Macias-Corral, M., Samani, Z., Hanson, A., Smith, G., Funk, P., Yu, H. and Longworth, J., 2008. Anaerobic digestion of municipal solid waste and agricultural waste and the effect of codigestion with dairy cow manure. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(17), pp.8288-8293.
- Madu, P.C., Akpaiyo, G.D., Ikoku, P., 2011. Biosorption of Cr 3+, Pb 2+, and Cd 2+ ions from aqueous solution using modified and unmodified millet chaff. *J Chem Pharm Res*, *3*, pp.467-477.
- Magurran, A.E., 1988. Ecological Diversity and its Measurement. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Makádi, M., Tomócsik, A. and Orosz, V., 2012. Digestate: A new nutrient source-Review. In *Biogas*. InTech.
- Manyi-Loh, C.E., Mamphweli, S.N., Meyer, E.L., Okoh, A.I., Makaka, G. and Simon, M., 2013. Microbial anaerobic digestion (bio-digesters) as an approach to the decontamination of animal wastes in pollution control and the generation of renewable energy. *International journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(9), pp.4390-4417.
- Mao, C., Feng, Y., Wang, X. and Ren, G., 2015. Review on research achievements of biogas from anaerobic digestion. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 45, pp.540-555.
- Mata-Alvarez, J., Mace, S. and Llabres, P., 2000. Anaerobic digestion of organic solid wastes. An overview of research achievements and perspectives. *Bioresource Technology*, 74(1), pp.3-16.
- Meena, A.K., Kadirvelu, K., Mishraa, G.K., Rajagopal, C. and Nagar, P.N., 2008. Adsorption of Pb (II) and Cd (II) metal ions from aqueous solutions by mustard husk. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 150(3), pp.619-625.
- Molinuevo-Salces, B., García-González, M.C., González-Fernández, C., Cuetos, M.J., Morán, A. and Gómez, X., 2010. Anaerobic co-digestion of livestock wastes with vegetable processing wastes: a statistical analysis. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(24), pp.9479-9485.
- Möller, K. and Müller, T., 2012. Effects of anaerobic digestion on digestate nutrient availability and crop growth: a review. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, *12*(3), pp.242-257.
- Monnet, F., 2003. An introduction to anaerobic digestion of organic wastes. *Remade Scotland*, pp.1-48.
- Mshandete, A.M. and Parawira, W., 2009. Biogas technology research in selected sub-Saharan African countries–A review. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 8(2).
- Mu, H., Zhao, C., Zhao, Y., Li, Y., Hua, D., Zhang, X. and Xu, H., 2017. Enhanced methane production by semi-continuous mesophilic co-digestion of potato waste and cabbage waste: Performance and microbial characteristics analysis. *Bioresource Technology*, 236, pp.68-76.
- Mulinda, C., Hu, Q. and Pan, K., 2013. Dissemination and Problems of African Biogas Technology. *Energy and Power Engineering*, 5(08), p.506.
- Muvhiiwa, R.F., Chafa, P.M., Chikowore, N., Chitsiga, T., Matambo, T.S. and Low, M., 2016. Effect of Temperature and PH on Biogas Production from Cow Dung and Dog Faeces. *Africa Insight*, 45(4).

- Muyzer, G., De Waal, E.C. and Uitterlinden, A.G., 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *59*(3), pp.695-700.
- Mwakasonda, S., 2007. South Africa low carbon scenario report. *Energy Research Centre, University* of Cape Town.
- Nautiyal, C.S., 1999. An efficient microbiological growth medium for screening phosphate solubilizing microorganisms. *FEMS microbiology Letters*, *170*(1), pp.265-270.
- Nelson, M.C., Morrison, M. and Yu, Z., 2011. A meta-analysis of the microbial diversity observed in anaerobic digesters. *Bioresource Technology*, *102*(4), pp.3730-3739.
- NERSA (National Energy Regulator of South Africa). 2013.Media statement: NERSA registers biogas production activities in rural areas in terms of the gas act,2001(Act no.48 0f 2001).
- Nettmann, E., Bergmann, I., Mundt, K., Linke, B. and Klocke, M., 2008. Archaea diversity within a commercial biogas plant utilizing herbal biomass determined by 16S rDNA and mcrA analysis. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *105*(6), pp.1835-1850.
- Ni, J.Q. and Nyns, E.J., 1996. New concept for the evaluation of rural biogas management in developing countries. *Energy Conversion and Management*, *37*(10), pp.1525-1534.
- Nurliyana, M.Y., H'ng, P.S., Rasmina, H., Kalsom, M.U., Chin, K.L., Lee, S.H., Lum, W.C. and Khoo, G.D., 2015. Effect of C/N ratio in methane productivity and biodegradability during facultative co-digestion of palm oil mill effluent and empty fruit bunch. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 76, pp.409-415.
- Obi, L.U., Atagana, H.I. and Adeleke, R.A., 2016. Isolation and characterisation of crude oil sludge degrading bacteria. *SpringerPlus*, *5*(1), p.1946.

- Odlare, M., Arthurson, V., Pell, M., Svensson, K., Nehrenheim, E. and Abubaker, J., 2011. Land application of organic waste–effects on the soil ecosystem. *Applied Energy*, 88(6), pp.2210-2218.
- Oenema, O., Wrage, N., Velthof, G.L., van Groenigen, J.W., Dolfing, J. and Kuikman, P.J., 2005. Trends in global nitrous oxide emissions from animal production systems. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 72(1), pp.51-65.
- Okudoh, V., Trois, C., Workneh, T. and Schmidt, S., 2014. The potential of cassava biomass and applicable technologies for sustainable biogas production in South Africa: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *39*, pp.1035-1052.
- Oliveira, D., 2013. Food waste cost 61.5 billion a year. Creamer Media's engineering weekly News magazine, 23 August. <u>http://www.engineeringnews.co.za/article/food-waste-costs-sa-r615-billion-a-year-2013-08-23</u>.
- Ostrem, K. and Themelis, N.J., 2004. Greening waste: Anaerobic digestion for treating the organic fraction of municipal solid wastes. *Earth Engineering Center Columbia University*, pp.6-9. Availableat:http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Ostrem\_Thesis\_final.pdf.
- Owamah, H.I., Dahunsi, S.O., Oranusi, U.S. and Alfa, M.I., 2014. Fertilizer and sanitary quality of digestate biofertilizer from the co-digestion of food waste and human excreta. *Waste Management*, *34*(4), pp.747-752.
- Palacio-Barco, E., Robert-Peillard, F., Boudenne, J.L. and Coulomb, B., 2010. On-line analysis of volatile fatty acids in anaerobic treatment processes. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 668(1), pp.74-79.
- Palatsi, J., Illa, J., Prenafeta-Boldú, F.X., Laureni, M., Fernandez, B., Angelidaki, I. and Flotats, X., 2010. Long-chain fatty acids inhibition and adaptation process in anaerobic thermophilic

digestion: batch tests, microbial community structure and mathematical modelling. *Bioresource Technology*, *101*(7), pp.2243-2251.

- Pandey, B., Subedi, P.S., Sengendo, M. and Monroe, I., 2007. Biogas for a better life: An African initiative. *Report prepared for the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs by Winrock International*.
- Pardo, G., Moral, R. and del Prado, A., 2017. SIMS WASTE-AD-A modelling framework for the environmental assessment of agricultural waste management strategies: Anaerobic digestion. *Science of The Total Environment*, 574, pp.806-817.
- Patil, S.S., Kumar, M.S. and Ball, A.S., 2010. Microbial community dynamics in anaerobic bioreactors and algal tanks treating piggery wastewater. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 87(1), pp.353-363.
- Poulsen, T.G., Nizami, A.S., Rafique, R., Kiely, G. and Murphy, J.D., 2011. How can we improve biomethane production per unit of feedstock in biogas plants?. *Applied Energy*, 88(6), pp.2013-2018.
- Pycke, B., Etchebehere, C., Van de Caveye, P., Negroni, A., Verstraete, W. and Boon, N., 2011. A time-course analysis of four full-scale anaerobic digesters in relation to the dynamics of change of their microbial communities. *Water Science & Technology*, 63(4), pp.769-775.
- Rajagopal, R., Massé, D.I. and Singh, G., 2013. A critical review on inhibition of anaerobic digestion process by excess ammonia. *Bioresource Technology*, *143*, pp.632-641.
- Rajendran, K., Aslanzadeh, S. and Taherzadeh, M.J., 2012. Household biogas digesters—A review. *Energies*, 5(8), pp.2911-2942.
- Ralph, M. and Dong, G.J., 2010. Environmental microbiology second. A John Wiley & Sons, inc., Publication.

- Randhawa, G.K. and Kullar, J.S., 2011. Bioremediation of pharmaceuticals, pesticides, and petrochemicals with gomeya/cow dung. *ISRN pharmacology*, 2011.
- Rao, P.V., Baral, S.S., Dey, R. and Mutnuri, S., 2010. Biogas generation potential by anaerobic digestion for sustainable energy development in India. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 14(7), pp.2086-2094.
- Raposo, F., Borja, R., Martín, M.A., Martín, A., De la Rubia, M.A. and Rincón, B., 2009. Influence of inoculum–substrate ratio on the anaerobic digestion of sunflower oil cake in batch mode: process stability and kinetic evaluation. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 149(1), pp.70-77.
- Rastogi, G. and Sani, R.K., 2011. Molecular techniques to assess microbial community structure, function, and dynamics in the environment. In *Microbes and Microbial Technology* (pp. 29-57). Springer New York.
- Ray<sup>1</sup>, N.H.S., Mohanty, M.K. and Mohanty, R.C., 2013. Anaerobic digestion of kitchen wastes: "biogas production and pretreatment of wastes, a review". *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, p.286.
- Rengel, Z. and Marschner, P., 2005. Nutrient availability and management in the rhizosphere: exploiting genotypic differences. *New Phytologist*, *168*(2), pp.305-312.
- Renwick, M., Subedi, P.S. and Hutton, G., 2007. Biogas for Better Life: An African Initiative. A costbenefit analysis of national and regional integrated Biogas and Sanitation programs in Sub-Saharan Africa. WinRock International. *The Netherlands: Winrock International, prepared for the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs*.
- Resende, J.A., Godon, J.J., Bonnafous, A., Arcuri, P.B., Silva, V.L., Otenio, M.H. and Diniz, C.G., 2016. Seasonal variation on microbial community and methane production during anaerobic digestion of cattle manure in Brazil. *Microbial Ecology*, 71(3), pp.735-746.

- Ritari, J., Koskinen, K., Hultman, J., Kurola, J.M., Kymäläinen, M., Romantschuk, M., Paulin, L. and Auvinen, P., 2012. Molecular analysis of meso-and thermophilic microbiota associated with anaerobic biowaste degradation. *BMC microbiology*, *12*(1), p.121.
- Riviere, D., Desvignes, V., Pelletier, E., Chaussonnerie, S., Guermazi, S., Weissenbach, J., Li, T., Camacho, P. and Sghir, A., 2009. Towards the definition of a core of microorganisms involved in anaerobic digestion of sludge. *The ISME Journal*, 3(6), p.700.
- Robertson, J.B., 1981. The detergent system of analysis and its applications to human foods. *The analysis of Dietary Fiber in Food*, pp.123-158.
- Roopnarain, A. and Adeleke, R., 2017. Current status, hurdles and future prospects of biogas digestion technology in Africa. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 67, pp.1162-1179.
- Roopnarain, A., Mukhuba, M., Adeleke, R., Moeletsi, M., 2017. Biases during DNA extraction affect bacterial and archaeal community profile of anaerobic digestion samples. *3 Biotech*, (2017)7:375.
- Ros, M., de Souza Oliveira Filho, J., Murcia, M.D.P., Bustamante, M.A., Moral, R., Coll, M.D., Santisima-Trinidad, A.B.L. and Pascual, J.A., 2017. Mesophilic anaerobic digestion of pig slurry and fruit and vegetable waste: Dissection of the microbial community structure. *Journal* of Cleaner Production, 156, pp.757-765.
- Sahlström, L., 2003. A review of survival of pathogenic bacteria in organic waste used in biogas plants. *Bioresource Technology*, 87(2), pp.161-166.
- Saxena, R.C., Adhikari, D.K. and Goyal, H.B., 2009. Biomass-based energy fuel through biochemical routes: a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *13*(1), pp.167-178.

- Scano, E.A., Asquer, C., Pistis, A., Ortu, L., Demontis, V. and Cocco, D., 2014. Biogas from anaerobic digestion of fruit and vegetable wastes: experimental results on pilot-scale and preliminary performance evaluation of a full-scale power plant. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 77, pp.22-30.
- Schink, B., 1997. Energetics of syntrophic cooperation in methanogenic degradation. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, *61*(2), pp.262-280.
- Schnürer, A., Zellner, G. and Svensson, B.H., 1999. Mesophilic syntrophic acetate oxidation during methane formation in biogas reactors. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 29(3), pp.249-261.
- Schröder, P., Herzig, R., Bojinov, B., Ruttens, A., Nehnevajova, E., Stamatiadis, S., Memon, A., Vassilev, A., Caviezel, M. and Vangronsveld, J., 2008. Bioenergy to save the world. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 15(3), pp.196-204.
- Sebola, M.R., Tesfagiorgis, H.B. and Muzenda, E., 2015. Methane Production from Anaerobic Codigestion of Cow Dung, Chicken Manure, Pig Manure and Sewage Waste. In *Proceedings of the World Congress on Engineering* (Vol. 1).
- Sebola, R., Tesfagiorgis, H. and Muzenda, E., 2014. Production of biogas through anaerobic digestion of various waste: review. In *Proceedings of international conference on chemical, integrated waste management and environmental engineering (ICCIWEE'2014), Johannesburg* (pp. 196-201).
- Shin, H.S., Han, S.K., Song, Y.C. and Lee, C.Y., 2001. Performance of UASB reactor treating leachate from acidogenic fermenter in the two-phase anaerobic digestion of food waste. *Water Research*, 35(14), pp.3441-3447.

- Shin, S.G., Han, G., Lim, J., Lee, C. and Hwang, S., 2010. A comprehensive microbial insight into two-stage anaerobic digestion of food waste-recycling wastewater. *Water Research*, 44(17), pp.4838-4849.
- Shin, S.G., Lee, S., Lee, C., Hwang, K. and Hwang, S., 2010. Qualitative and quantitative assessment of microbial community in batch anaerobic digestion of secondary sludge. *Bioresource Technology*, *101*(24), pp.9461-9470.
- Simberloff, D. and Dayan, T., 1991. The guild concept and the structure of ecological communities. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 22(1), pp.115-143.
- Singh, K., Lee, K., Worley, J., Risse, L.M. and Das, K.C., 2010. Anaerobic digestion of poultry litter: a review. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture*, 26(4), pp.677-688.
- Sitorus, B. and Panjaitan, S.D., 2013. Biogas recovery from anaerobic digestion process of mixed fruit-vegetable wastes. *Energy Procedia*, *32*, pp.176-182.
- Sitorus, B. and Panjaitan, S.D., 2013. Biogas recovery from anaerobic digestion process of mixed fruitvegetable wastes. *Energy Procedia*, *32*, pp.176-182.
- Song, C., Li, M., Jia, X., Wei, Z., Zhao, Y., Xi, B., Zhu, C. and Liu, D., 2014. Comparison of bacterial community structure and dynamics during the thermophilic composting of different types of solid wastes: anaerobic digestion residue, pig manure and chicken manure. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 7(5), pp.424-433.
- Sprott, G.D. and Patel, G.B., 1986. Ammonia toxicity in pure cultures of methanogenic bacteria. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 7(2-3), pp.358-363.
- Sriram, N. and Shahidehpour, M., 2005, June. Renewable biomass energy. In *IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting*, 2005 (pp. 612-617). IEEE.

Statistical Analysis System Institute, 1999. *SAS/STAT user's guide, version* 8(Vol. 2). SAS Institute. Statistics, S.A., 2015. Statistical release P0302 Midyear population estimates 2015.

- Tale, V.P., Maki, J.S., Struble, C.A. and Zitomer, D.H., 2011. Methanogen community structureactivity relationship and bioaugmentation of overloaded anaerobic digesters. *Water Research*, 45(16), pp.5249-5256.
- Teodorita, A.S., Dominik, R., Heinz, P., Michael, K., Tobias, F., Silke, V. and Rainer, J., 2008. Biogas handbook. University of Southern Denmark, Denmark. Published by University of Southern Denmark Esbjerg, Niels Bohrs Vej 9-10. <u>http://www.sdu.dk</u>
- Thassitou, P.K. and Arvanitoyannis, I.S., 2001. Bioremediation: a novel approach to food waste management. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, *12*(5), pp.185-196.

Tiepelt, M., 2013. Business opportunities and barriers in waste in South Africa.

- Town, J.R., Links, M.G., Fonstad, T.A. and Dumonceaux, T.J., 2014. Molecular characterization of anaerobic digester microbial communities identifies microorganisms that correlate to reactor performance. *Bioresource Technology*, *151*, pp.249-257.
- Van Rooy, T., Fischer, T., and Crous, D.2013.Doing Business in South Africa: Waste to Energy, Urban-Econ CC. Pretoria, South Africa.
- Wagner, L., 2015. *Trends from the use of biogas technology in Germany*, Bangkok: Fachverband Biogas e.V.
- Walker, M., Iyer, K., Heaven, S. and Banks, C.J., 2011. Ammonia removal in anaerobic digestion by biogas stripping: an evaluation of process alternatives using a first order rate model based on experimental findings. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 178, pp.138-145.

- Wan, S., Sun, L., Sun, J. and Luo, W., 2013. Biogas production and microbial community change during the Co-digestion of food waste with chinese silver grass in a single-stage anaerobic reactor. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 18(5), pp.1022-1030.
- Wang, C., Zuo, J., Chen, X., Xing, W., Xing, L., Li, P., Lu, X. and Li, C., 2014. Microbial community structures in an integrated two-phase anaerobic bioreactor fed by fruit vegetable wastes and wheat straw. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 26(12), pp.2484-2492.
- Wang, S., Hou, X. and Su, H., 2017. Exploration of the relationship between biogas production and microbial community under high salinity conditions. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), p.1149.
- Wang, X., Lu, X., Li, F. and Yang, G., 2014. Effects of temperature and carbon-nitrogen (C/N) ratio on the performance of anaerobic co-digestion of dairy manure, chicken manure and rice straw: focusing on ammonia inhibition. *PloS One*, 9(5), p.e97265.
- Wang, X., Yang, G., Feng, Y., Ren, G. and Han, X., 2012. Optimizing feeding composition and carbon–nitrogen ratios for improved methane yield during anaerobic co-digestion of dairy, chicken manure and wheat straw. *Bioresource Technology*, 120, pp.78-83.
- Ward, A.J., Hobbs, P.J., Holliman, P.J. and Jones, D.L., 2008. Optimisation of the anaerobic digestion of agricultural resources. *Bioresource Technology*, *99*(17), pp.7928-7940.
- Watanabe, T., Asakawa, S., Nakamura, A., Nagaoka, K. and Kimura, M., 2004. DGGE method for analyzing 16S rDNA of methanogenic archaeal community in paddy field soil. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 232(2), pp.153-163.
- Weiland, P., 2006. State of the art of solid-state digestion–recent developments. *Solid-State Digestion–State of the Art and Further R&D Requirements, Gulzower Fachgespräche*, 24, pp.22-38.

- Weiland, P., 2010. Biogas production: current state and perspectives. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 85(4), pp.849-860.
- Wirth, R., Kovács, E., Maróti, G., Bagi, Z., Rákhely, G. and Kovács, K.L., 2012. Characterization of a biogas-producing microbial community by short-read next generation DNA sequencing. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 5(1), p.41.
- World Future Council., 2010 "Report of the World Future Council Workshop on Renewable Energy Policies for Sustainable African Development", Addis-Ababa.
- Wrighton, K.C., Agbo, P., Warnecke, F., Weber, K.A., Brodie, E.L., DeSantis, T.Z., Hugenholtz, P., Andersen, G.L. and Coates, J.D., 2008. A novel ecological role of the Firmicutes identified in thermophilic microbial fuel cells. *The ISME journal*, 2(11), p.1146.
- Xu, Z., Lei, P., Feng, X., Xu, Xu, Xu, H., Yang, H. and Tang, W., 2013. Effect of poly (γ-glutamic acid) on microbial community and nitrogen pools of soil. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B-Soil & Plant Science*, 63(8), pp.657-668.
- Yadav, K.S. and Dadarwal, K.R., 1997. Phosphate slubilization and mobilization through soil microorganisms. *Biotechnological approaches in soil microorganisms for sustainable crop* production., pp.293-308.
- Ye, N.F., Lü, F., Shao, L.M., Godon, J.J. and He, P.J., 2007. Bacterial community dynamics and product distribution during pH-adjusted fermentation of vegetable wastes. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 103(4), pp.1055-1065.
- Yi, Y., Yang, Z. and Zhang, S., 2011. Ecological risk assessment of heavy metals in sediment and human health risk assessment of heavy metals in fishes in the middle and lower reaches of the Yangtze River basin. *Environmental Pollution*, 159(10), pp.2575-2585.

- Yu, D., Kurola, J.M., Lähde, K., Kymäläinen, M., Sinkkonen, A. and Romantschuk, M., 2014. Biogas production and methanogenic archaeal community in mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion processes. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 143, pp.54-60.
- Zhang, C., Su, H., Baeyens, J. and Tan, T., 2014. Reviewing the anaerobic digestion of food waste for biogas production. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *38*, pp.383-392.
- Zhang, C., Xiao, G., Peng, L., Su, H. and Tan, T., 2013. The anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and cattle manure. *Bioresource Technology*, *129*, pp.170-176.
- Zhang, J., Loh, K.C., Lee, J., Wang, C.H., Dai, Y. and Tong, Y.W., 2017. Three-stage anaerobic codigestion of food waste and horse manure. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), p.1269.
- Zhang, L., Lee, Y.W. and Jahng, D., 2011. Anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and piggery wastewater: focusing on the role of trace elements. *Bioresource Technology*, *102*(8), pp.5048-5059.
- Zhang, R., El-Mashad, H.M., Hartman, K., Wang, F., Liu, G., Choate, C. and Gamble, P., 2007. Characterization of food waste as feedstock for anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource Technology*, 98(4), pp.929-935.
- Zhao, H., Yang, D., Woese, C.R. and Bryant, M.P., 1993. Assignment of fatty acid-β-oxidizing syntrophic bacteria to Syntrophomonadaceae fam. nov. on the basis of 16S rRNA sequence analyses. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 43(2), pp.278-286.
- Zhu, H.J., Sun, L.F., Zhang, Y.F., Zhang, X.L. and Qiao, J.J., 2012. Conversion of spent mushroom substrate to biofertilizer using a stress-tolerant phosphate-solubilizing Pichia farinose FL7. *Bioresource Technology*, 111, pp.410-416.

- Ziganshin, A.M., Liebetrau, J., Pröter, J. and Kleinsteuber, S., 2013. Microbial community structure and dynamics during anaerobic digestion of various agricultural waste materials. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 97(11), pp.5161-5174.
- Ziganshina, E.E., Ibragimov, E.M., Vankov, P.Y., Miluykov, V.A. and Ziganshin, A.M., 2017. Comparison of anaerobic digestion strategies of nitrogen-rich substrates: performance of anaerobic reactors and microbial community diversity. *Waste Management*, *59*, pp.160-171.

# Nutrient agar

- 28g of dehydrated nutrient agar
- 1L distilled water
- Sterilisation of the medium by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min
- Dispense the medium into the petri dishes

#### **Gel electrophoresis**

- 0.5g agarose
- 50 ml 50x TAE buffer
- Heat until the agarose completely dissolve
- Add 2  $\mu$ L ethidium bromide

## DGGE

100% denaturant solution

- 40ml formamide
- 42g Urea
- Make to 100 ml with distilled water

Composition	High (60%)	Low (40%)	Stacking gel
40% acrylamide solution	2.4	2.4	0.6
50x TAE	0.24	0.24	0.08
Glycerol	0.48	0.48	0
100% denaturing solution	7.2	4.8	0
dH <sub>2</sub> 0	1.68	3.84	3.32
Total	12ml	12ml	4ml

Denaturing gradient on 8% polyacrylamide gel (60%-40%) for bacteria and (60%-25%) for archaea

Composition	High (60%)	Low (25%)	Stacking gel
40% acrylamide solution	2.4	2.4	0.6
50x TAE	0.24	0.24	0.08
Glycerol	0.48	0.48	0
100% denaturing solution	7.2	3	0
dH <sub>2</sub> 0	1.68	5.88	3.32
Total	12ml	12ml	4ml

Ammonium Persulfate 10% (m/v)

- 0.1g Ammonium persulfate
- Dissolve in 1ml dH<sub>2</sub>0

## DNA extraction using Powersoil DNA extraction kit (MO BIO Laboratories)

Briefly, the kit provides PowerBead Tubes to which 0.25 mg of dung sample were added and the tubes were mixed by gentle vortexing. Then 60  $\mu$ L of Solution C1 were added and the tubes were vortexed for several minutes. The tubes were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 30 seconds at room temperature, then the supernatant was transferred to a clean 2 ml Collection Tube. Then 250  $\mu$ L of Solution C2 were added and the tubes were vortexed for 5 seconds. Following that, the tubes were incubated at 4°C for 5 min and the centrifuged at room temperature for 1 min at 10,000 x g. Then up 600  $\mu$ L of Solution C3 were added and the tubes were briefly vortexed and incubated at 4°C for 5 min. The mixtures were centrifuged at room temperature for 1 min at

10,000 x g. Then, up to 750  $\mu$ L of supernatant were transferred to a clean 2 mL Collection Tube. Then 1200  $\mu$ L of Solution C4 were added to the supernatant and the mixtures vortexed for 5 seconds. Approximately 675  $\mu$ L of the mixture were loaded onto a Spin Filter and centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 1 min at room temperature. The flow through was discarded, an additional 675  $\mu$ L of supernatant was added to the Spin Filter and centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 1 min at room temperature. The same was done with the remaining volume of supernatant. Then 500  $\mu$ L of Solution C5 were added and centrifuged at room temperature for 30 seconds at 10,000 x g. After discarding the flow through, the samples were centrifuged again at room temperature for 1 min at 10,000 x g and the Spin Filters were placed in a clean 2 mL Collection Tube with care not to splash them with the flow through. Then 100  $\mu$ L of Solution C6 were added to the centre of the white filter membrane. Centrifugation was performed at room temperature for 30 seconds at 10,000 x g and the Spin Filter was discarded.

## **Principles for the determination of fibre fractions (Irene Analytical Services)**

> Neutral detergent fibre (NDF) method

The feed was extracted with a hot neutral solution of sodium lauryl sulphate. (Robertson, J.B. and Van Soest, P.J., 1981)

## > Acid detergent fibre (ADF) method

Method using heat treatment of the sample with sulphuric acid containing cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide (Goering and Van Soest, 1970).

\*The difference between NDF and ADF value gives an estimate of the content of non-cellulosic polysaccharides. The ADF residue contains mainly cellulose and lignin. The lignin content is determined by permanganate oxidation and the resulting residue gives the cellulose content.

NDF = lignin + cellulose + hemicellulose

- ADF = lignin + cellulose
- ADL = acid detergent lignin
- NDF ADF = hemicellulose
- ADF ADL = cellulose



Language Specialist

Editing, copywriting, indexing, formatting, translation

BA Hons Translation Studies; APEd (SATI) Accredited Professional Text Editor, SATI Mobile: 071 872 1334 Tel: 012 361 6347 alexabarnby@gmail.com

27 October 2017

To whom it may concern

This is to certify that I, Alexa Kirsten Barnby, ID no. 5106090097080, a language practitioner accredited by the South African Translators' Institute, have edited the research report, titled "Ecological guild of microbes that drive production of biogas from multiple feedstock", by Mukhuba Mashudu.

The onus is, however, on the author to make the changes and address the comments made.

hubanty

# Plagiarism





#### CAES RESEARCH ETHICS REVIEW COMMITTEE

Date: 13/10/2015

Ref #: 2015/CAES/092 Name of applicant: **Ms M Mukhuba** Student #: 55737560

Dear Ms Mukhuba,

Decision: Ethics Approval

**Proposal:** The effects of microbial composition in the production of biogas from multiple feedstock

Supervisor: Dr R Adeleke

Qualification: Postgraduate degree

Thank you for the application for research ethics clearance by the CAES Research Ethics Review Committee for the above mentioned research. Final approval is granted for the duration of the project.

Please note point 4 below for further action.

The application was reviewed in compliance with the Unisa Policy on Research Ethics by the CAES Research Ethics Review Committee on 09 October 2015.

The proposed research may now commence with the proviso that:

- The researcher/s will ensure that the research project adheres to the values and principles expressed in the UNISA Policy on Research Ethics.
- 2) Any adverse circumstance arising in the undertaking of the research project that is relevant to the ethicality of the study, as well as changes in the methodology, should be communicated in writing to the CAES Research Ethics Review Committee. An emended application could be requested if there are substantial changes from the existing proposal, especially if those changes affect any of the study-related risks for the research participants.
- 3) The researcher will ensure that the research project adheres to any applicable



University of South Africa Freiler Street, Mudklonauk Ridge City of Tshvare FOBak 392 UNISA 0003 (with Africa Telephane +27-12-129 5111 - warme = 277-12-479 4100) www.unisa.acta

(Title changed)